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UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

MANAGE MENT ST ATE MENT 

In the year to 31 March 2002 the scheme's membership continued to grow, 

although poor investment returns generally saw the value of the fund fall over 

the year for the second year running. The scheme's active membership increased 

by 4.8% from 91,300 to 95, 700 and there was substantial growth in the 

numbers of pensioners and those entitled to deferred benefits to 49,500 (up by 

9'.V.,) and 35, 100 (up by 6%) respectively. At 31 March 2002 the fund had total 

assets of around £20 billion. 

It was another poor year for pension fund performance generally and for the 

fund. The fund's return of -10.1 'Y., was well below both price inflation and below 

its peer group average although over the longer term the fund's performance 

remains ahead of its target and comfortably exceeds the assumptions used in 

the 1999 actuarial valuation of the scheme. 

We reported last year on certain operational difficulties which we experienced 

following the implementation of the trustee company's new pensions 

administration software, the Universal Pensions Management System, in 

August 2000. We are pleased to report that during the year these difficulties 

were largely overcome and chat the levels of service being provided to member 

institutions and individual members were reinstated to a satisfactory standard. 

A consultation process took place during the year with both employers and 

members to ascertain the level of support for a possible improvement in the 

USS accrual rate to 60ths. In addition to discussions which took place during 

the UUK conference in September 2001 and at the USS institutions' meeting 

at BAFTA in November 2001 letters were sent to all institutions and to all 

member� of USS seeking their response to the proposals. No decision on any 

change in the accrual rate will be made until the results of the triennial 

actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2002 are known. However, the results of the 

consultation process, the prospect of reduced investmen� returns in the future 

and, quite likely, a reduced surplus at the valuation make a decision to improve 

the accrual rate to 60ths for both past service and future service look more 

unlikely now than when we first began to consider the matter in 1997. 

There have been many reports recently in the media of employers closing the doors 

of their final salary schemes to new members and in some cases winding-up 

Graeme J Davies 
Chair111a11 

schemes. Providing pension 

benefits for employees 1s a 
long-term commitment and 

that determination has been 

evident in USS since it was set 

up in April 1975. We want to 

reassure members that in our 

opinion the institutions that 

participate in USS remain 

fully supportive of providing a 
final salary scheme. 
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David B Chynoweth 
Chi�f £.yewtil'e 
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The fund's investments have increased from 

£17.2 billion in 1998 to £19.8 billion as 

,lt 31 March 2002. Poor investment returns 

generally have seen a decrease in the value 

of the fund's investments for the second 

year running. More details are given in 

the investment committee report on page 

19 and in the five year summary of the 

fund accounts on page 64. 

Afrer the fund's exceptional investment 

returns in 1 999, both 2000 and 2001 were 

poor years for the fund. The total return 

for the fund in 2001 was -10 .1 %, behind 

both price inflation and the WM50 

benchmark return. Over five years the 

fund has underperformed the WM50 

average while over ten years it has 

performed in line with the WM50 

average. Over both five and ten years the 

fund return has comfortably exceeded 

RPI. More details are given in the report 

of the investment committee on page 19. 

The membership of the scheme continues 

to grow steadily. As at 31 March 2002 the 

total membership was 180,300 an increase 
of 6% from last year and 28% from four 

years ago. More details are given in the 

five year summary of the fund accounts 

on page 64. 
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T R U ST EE CO M P ANY 

PRINCIPAL OFFICERS AND ADVISERS 

The principal officers and advisers of the trustee company at 1 August 2002 are: 

Clzi�f Excwtit 1c 

Clzi�f lnl'estmc11t Q[ficcr 

Clzi�f Aao1111tm1t 

Clzi�f Pensions 1\1a11a.ecr 

Co111pa11y Secretary 

IT ,\1mw,1;er 

D B Chynoweth BA CPFA FCCA FCMI 

PG Moon 

C S  Hunter BSc CA 

Rosemary A Mounce BSc ARCS AIA 

J P W illiams BA ACIS MCIPD MCMI 

D S Andrews 

Comm1111ications .\1<111<1J;Cr C G Busby 

Surucyor R G Walden BSc FRICS 

Actuary E S Topper MA FIA FPMI 

Solicitors 

Auditors 

Property Co11s11/ta11ts 

of Mercer Human Resource Consulting Limited 
Clarence House, Clarence Street, Manchester M2 4DW 

DLA 
India Buildings, Liverpool L2 ONH 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
8 Princes Parade, St Nicholas Place, Liverpool L3 1 QJ 

Barclays Bank Pie 
4 Water Street, Liverpool L69 2 DU 

LaSalle Investment Management 
33 Cavendish Square, London WlA 2NF 

The principal other organisations acting for the trustee company during the year were: 

Solicitors 

/nz,est111e11t 111,111,\1;crs 

bl!'est111e11t co11s11/ta11ts 

Custodians 

ln11estme11t pe1forma11ce 
111easure111cnt 

Property I'll l ucrs 

Computer s,!ftll'are 

Co111putcr lwrdzuare 

Data recoucry 

Insurers 

Clifford Chance, Dundas & Wilson, Lawrence Graham, 
Hammond Suddards Edge, Mitchells Roberton, 
Fried Frank Harris Shriver & Jacobson 

Baillie Gifford & Co, Capital International Limited, 
Schroder Investment Management Limited, 
Merrill Lynch Investment Managers, Henderson Global Investors Limited 

ML'rcer Investment Consulting 

Deutsche Bank, JP Morgan Pie 

Investment Property Databank Limited, The WM Company 

Colliers Conrad Ritblat Erdman 

Comino pie, Azlan Limited, Oracle Corporation UK Limited, 
Morse Limited 

Hewlett-Packard Limited 

Synstar Business Continuity Limited 

Royal & Sun Alliance 

The trustee of Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) is the trustee company, Universities 

Superannuation Scheme Limited (USS Ltd), which is appointed under USS rule 20.1. The statutory 

power of appointing new trustees applies provided that a new trustee may not be appointed 

without the approval of the joint negotiating committee. The trustee company is also the 

administrator of the scheme for the purposes of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. 

The registered office of the trustee company to which enquiries about the scheme generally or 

about an individual's entitlement should be sent is: 

Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited 

Royal Liver Building, Liverpool L3 1 PY 
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UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

T R U ST EE COM P ANY 

The membership at 31 March 2002 of the principal committees was as follows: 

J\,bnagement Committl'e 

Appoi11tcd by Unil'ersirics UK (UUK) 

Professor Sir Graeme Davies (Chairman), Professor Sir Martin Harris, M S Potts, 

Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

Appointed by the Association ,f [ 'niz,ersity 'fo1chers (AU'JJ 

Mrs Angela Crum Ewing, Professor Charles Sutcliffe, J W D Trythall 

Appointed by the H(1;her Edrm1tion Funding Co1111cils (HEFCs) 

Sir Howard Newby 

Co-opted 

C D Donald (Deputy Chairn1Jn), A S Bell, L Collinson, Lord Mark Fitzalan Howard 

Finance & General Purpme� Committee 

Appointed by the n1,111agc111C11t co111111ittee 

CD Donald (Chairman), L Collinson, Mrs Angela Crum Ewing, 

Professor Sir Martin Harris, M S Potts, J W D Trythall, Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

lnwstment Committee 

Appoi11ted by the 111a11agc111C11t committee 

Lord Mark FitzaLm Howard (Chairman), A S  Bell, CD Donald, C E Hughes, 

P V S Manduca, Dr D C Nicholls, Professor Charles Sutcliffe, J W D Trythall 

Audit Committee 

Appointed by the 111<111,{1;cmc11t committee 

Dr Christine Ch.1llis (Chairman), Mrs Angela Crum Ewing, C D Domld, 

M S Potts, Professor Charles Sutcliffe 

R.crnuncL1tio11 Cornmittcc

,--lppoi11ted by the 111,11wgrn1rnt co111mittcc 

L Collinson (Chairman), Mrs Angela Crum Ewing, C D Donald. M S Potts, 

J W D Trythall, Barone,s Warwick of Underclitfr

Ad\·isory Committee 

Appointed by [ '[ 'K 

Dr A Bruce, A D Linfoot, D W Sims 

Appointed by AUT 

Ms J McAdoo (Chairperson), A Carr, Dr J de Groot 

Joint Negotiating Con1111ittee 

Indcpc11dcnt Clwir111a11 

Sir Kenneth Berrill 

Appointed by U['K 

Dr A Bruce, I Crawfr)rd, Dr S G Fleet, A I) Linfoot, C Morland 

Appointed by AUT 

Ms L Barker, Ms C Cheesman, Dr J M Goldstrom, Dr T McKnight, A Waton 
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UNIVERSITIES SUPEf\.ANNUATION SCHEME 

TRU S TEE COM PANY 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS as at 1 August 20(12 

Professor Sir Graeme Davies, Chairman 

Cr.1t'11lt' 11,tvil', (65) i, 1.:urrcntly l'rinc1p.1l .md Vin:-Ch.m.:,.-llor of till· U11in-fliHV otGl.1,�m,. He \\\1' t•duf,\tt·d in th1.· Sfhool 
ot Engim.•t•ring of tht• Um,·cr ... ity nf Auckl.md. New ZL',11.md. He ,,-.1\ until '.'n. .. ·J�tt•mhl'r i lJtJ5 ( 'hief Exl'tuti\'l.' of tht• Higher 
Education Funding Council fiJT England (Jnd prcviou,;;ly the Unh-er,itics Funding Council ,md tht' Polytechnic, Jnd 
College-. Funding Council). He WJ'i vice-chJncellor oftht' University of Liverpool fi-om 19H6 m PN1 Jnd hold"' honorJry 
dt'gn.'t''i from Li\'erpool. Shdl"idd. Nottingh,1111, M.mchl'i;tL'r Ml'tropnlitJII, Str.nhdydt' .md Aurktmd u11iwn1t1t·,. He ,it, 
on the 'tcottii;h SriL'llll' Trmt .md the ho.trd of UniwrntiL'"' UK. HL· \\,l'- .1ppoimc.·d ch.1irm.111 of USS I td in JtNh. 

Colin D Donald 

Colin Don.ild (67) hJs been J dirt'ctor of USS Ltd a, J. co-optt'd 
n1t·mber of the boJrd ,;ince I Jui) 1 t)t)O .md dt'puty chJirm.111 ,;;incc.• 
J l)l)fl. Until J lN4 he w.1, .1 pJrtner .md l.1t{erly .1 con,;ultJnt with the 
tirm of MrGrigor I )on.1ld. ,;olir1ror, in ( ;JJ,gow ,;;peci.1Ji,111� m priv.1tL' 
cltt'nt, trust and d1Jrity work. He wJ,;; J l.1y member of the Court of 
the Unin-r,;i�· nf G\J"igm\ from I 1)HO to J{)1J7 .md ch,1ir111J11 of thc.• 
uniwr,ity', 11on-.1c.1dem1r ,tJff p1..·1hion ,d1t'lllt' from I 118� ro PN7. 

AS Bell CBE 

Srott Bell (()I 1) rt'tired in M.1rch �( )( l.2 .1frer 14 )'L',lf"i .1, group m.uuging 
director of St.1nJ.1nl L1fi.•. HL' i,; .1 m1..•111ber of the Fin.mri,tl Reportin� 
CounL·il .111d hJ"i bec.·n tht: Ho11or,ny (_ �.m.1d1,H1 Comul in !',nnl.111d 
,ince } lJtJ.t. He hJs beL·n J director of USS Ltd �incc Au�mr l 91)(i. 

Sir Howard Newby 

Hn,, .1rd Nt:why (5-l) JOllll..'d tht: Higher Educ.1tinn Funding Coumil 
tlu· [nglJnd .1, chief1.·.,e\.UtI\T 111 ()Lmbl..'r �(Jill. Prior tll th,lt he WJ\ 
tht' ,·icc-ch.mcellor of the Uni,·er\ity of South,unpton from l 994 to 
�11!11. Hi,; L'Jrlier po,;f"i mdude d1.1ir111J11 (llJHH- 1)�) Jnd d1kf ext'cL1tiYe 
of thL· Ero11omic .md Soci.11 Rl..'"il..'.1rch ( ·ouncil. Profi..·,,or of Sociology 
.H thl..' U111YL'r..,it-:, of £..,..,1..•x t J l>8.l-HH) .md l'rot�·,,nr of 'inciology .md 
Rur.11 �oc1ology ,lt the University ofWi..,con..,in, M.1di\011 (1980-XJ). 
He becJmc J director of USS Lrd in ()ctobl..'r ,211111. 

Professor Charles Sutcliffe 

ChJrh�.., Sutcliffe- (5+) ha,;; t.rnµht fin.met' ,1t the Ut1i\'tT'>ity of 
South.11npton ,rncL' I 1)90 .. md pn:,·1ou..,Jy workc.·d .1t rht.• uniYc.·r,iric.·, of 
Nl..'wc.1,tlt: Jlld R.e.tding. J-rom l lJ8l to t cJH5 ht: ,,.1, ,Ill dt:rtc.·d membl..'r 
of llt'rbhire County Council Jnd .1 tru-;tee of the lkrk.;;htrt' Lor.11 
Authoritie, Supcrannu,1tion Fund. Ben.n-cn 1q-3 and JlJX5 he ,,., ... 
,llldHnr of tl11..· lle.1ding A,;;,;;oci.1tion of Univer,;;i�· TeJcht'r-. 'imce 1 lJH5 
hL' h.1 .. he1..·11 .1 ml'mher of the R1..',L'.1td1 Bo.1rd .md the RL·,e,1rch .md 
l)t',·t:lopmL'llt (;roup of the Clurtered (n.,titutt' of M.1n.1geml'1lt 
ArcountJIUS, Jnd vice-ch.iirm.111 of the Re,c:.urh 8oJrd ,1111..c I 997. 
He \\'J<; .1ppointt'd ,l'i .111 AUT nomin,1ted dirt:ctor ofU't\ Ltd in �!IOI. 

Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

l)i.m.1 W.1rwirk (57) w.1, appointed chief e,ecutiw ofUnin·r.,itie, UK 
(ti.1nnc.·rly thL' ( 'ommitt1..'L' of V1r1..·-( 'h,mrdlor, .111d Prmnp.1J.,) 111 

1 l)t)5. Pn:viou,ly ,he h.1d bren for three ye.1r, Chief Exc.·curive of fhl' 
Wc:mninster Found.1tion for Dt:morrJry .md from l 983-1 lJl)J ,he WJS 
th1..• Gt'ner.11 Secrt't,1ry of the A.;;soci.1tion of L'ni,·er,ity Te.1cht'r"i. 
rt:•prt:,1..·nting ,01111..· Jo,0011 ,K,1de111K Jnd ,L·n1or ,t.1ff 111 UK 
t1111v1..•r,;;1tiL·,. S!1L· \\.l'i .1 111L'!11ber of the.· Employment Appl',11.., TribunJI 
from 1984 to J lJl)() .md the StJnding Committee on St,md.uc.h in
Publi1..· Lit't" from l lJ9-l to 2rn U 1. From 1985 to I lJlJ5 ... he" ,en-ed .1, ,I 
hoJrd meml"lt:r of the: Briti.;;h Council. \\J.., .1 �overnor of tht• 
('.nmmonweJlth ln�titlltl' until Jl)lJ5, Jnd .1 member of tht' TU(: 
( ;L'ner.11 Counnl between 1 t)HtJ .md I ()t)2. 
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Leonard Collinson 

Lt'on,1 rd Collinson (6K) i,;; tht' founder ,1nd J director of Collinson GrJnt 
Group .111d rh.1ir111.111 of T ht: C.1111p.1i�11 ( :omp.my. Centr.1! Pl.1,t1l, 
.md tht.• puhli,her, lndu,try Nortlnn·..,t. Al,;o, hl' j,; rh.tirm.111 of rhc.· 
Fnrum of PriV.ltL' Bmi111..·,., .1nd the Sm.111 Bmine,;,; Rt:,t:,1rch Tru,t. He 
i-; J lkputy Lieut1..'11Jnt for tht' Cuunty of Mer.,ey,;;idt' Jnd !1J"i been J 
dirc:ctor of USS Ltd ... inct' Febru.1ry I {)r'"\t,. 

Professor Sir Martin Harris 

M.utin H,ffrt, (5H) h,1,;; het'n the vict'-rh,111cellor of the Uni\'t'r"iity of 
M.111che,tcr ,111cc.· 1 {)<J2. H1..· w,,., prcviomly vicl..'-rh.111cdlor of the 
Univer\ity ofE,;;�c.·x from l\)X7 to JlJlJ2 .md J mc.·mbL•r of tht' U11in·r,1ty 
GrJnt., Committee from I 1)84 to l 9K7. He W,h rh.1ir111.rn of rhe 
Commirtet' nfVk1..·-Ch<111cl..'llnr. .md Principal, (ntl\\ Univer,itic.·,;, UK) 
from !()<)7 to J(J99. H1..· i, .1 memhn of the North \Ve,t l"kn·lopmL'nt 
Agc.·ncy .111d he 11.1, hL'L'll .1 dirt·ccor o( U�� l td ,inn· I April I 1JlJ I. 

Michael Potts 

MKh,td Pott, (hJ) 1., Pre,1dl..'nt of the Cnuncil of thl' Um,·1..·r,iry of 
L1wrpool. h.wmg ,t:rn·d .1, TreJ,ur1..·r to tht: um,·c.•r.,1ty bl..'t\\'c.'1..'t1 11J1)J 
Jnd 1999. He.· i� ,1 chJrtt'red Jccount.mr ,rnd retin:d from Cooper, & 
Lyhr.ind in 199., ,lti:i:r 21 l yc.·.1r, .1, ,c:1110r p,1rmer in the Li,·L·q:iool 
offin·. He i, rurrt•11rly Pre'i!Lknt of the North WL·,t C.mcer J.t.1..·,L•,irch 
Fund. h.1,·lng wr\'l..·d .1., ( 'h,1ir111,m fi.lr nine ye.ir., .111d 1, .1 11011-1..·.xc.-rutin· 
J.irt·ccor of., number of pri,,ltl' rompJnic\. He WJ� .ippointed .1 Deputy 
Lieutt'n,mc for tht' county of Mer�c:y,idc in 21H I! I .md hJ"i been .1 
dirL·cror of USS Ltd ,mt'c.' I t)l)tJ. 

Angela Crum Ewing 

An�d.1 Crum E\\'ing (72) \\'J'i fi.1rmL•rly Dq:,ury Rt'l!l�tr,tr of thL· 
UnivL•r,ity of Rc.·.,dm� from whKh ..,Jw rt.·tirc.·d m I 1)'15. From I 1)1}5 to 
J l)l)X ,hi..' w.1,;; .1 romult.mt to the Mo,co\\' �drnol of Snri.11 ,md 
Economic Sut'IKc.'"i. Befrlrt: her retirem1..·m .;;ht' eh.tired the n,ui011.1l 
AdministrJti\'t' St.1tf Committee of the A,;;.;;oclJtion of Univt"r;.ity TeJcht"r;. 
(AUT) from l 1)H(, to 1 111)1 .mJ ,, .1, 11.1rinn.1I pre,idl'nt of tlw AUT in 
1 tJ1J 1 tJ�. She h,t\ been ,I trll'itL'1..' of the AUT pemulll fund ,111l'1..' 1 lJ()4. 
�he \\,l'i ,lppointcJ the fir,t p1.·11�1oner dirt'Ctor of USS Ltd in J lJtJ7 h,1\'ing 
previou�ly servc:d J"i J memht"r of the Joint Nl..'gotiJting- Co1111ninee 
fi:0111 ! t)8{) to \l)l)(I .md of the Advi,ory Committt't' from 1990 en l 1JlJ�. 

J W D Trythall 

lv1r J 'w' D Tryth,1ll (Bill). 57. i1J'> t.mµht 2nth centun h1<;rory at the 
L1111,·1..·r,1ty of Yorl ,inn· I 1u.11. l-k h,I\ hc.·c.·n ,11..·ti\'l' 111 the.• l.1huur 
mowmL'nt in York. For 14 yeJr,;; hL· ,, .1, ,I 1111..·mht·r of the n.uionJI 
execuriVL' committee of thc A,�oci.1tion of Uni\'1..·r,ity Te.ichL•r.;; ,111d 
'il'n-·ed J"i it<; Prt'"iident in 19H9 l)()_ He" j,; .lt pre ... c"nt .1 tnM1..'L' of thl' 
,l'i,ori,uion. He h,1.., .1 hnlJd inrerl..''it 111 pcll\iom prO\·i,ion .md \l'f\°l'\ 
011 thL' ,1dvi,;or) committee of thL· Pem1011 Trmtce,' ( 'irde .md 011 the 
JdYi"iory group for the Jmt Pemiom project. He h,1,; been .1 dll"L'Ctor 
of USS Ltd ,ince 1988. 

UNIVERSITIES SUl'Ef\.ANNUATION Sl HEME 

COMMIT TEE RE PORT S 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

The management committee submits its twenty-seventh annual report on the progress of USS. 

Separate reports on the activities of the investment committee, the joint negotiating committee 

and the advisory committee follow this report. 

Committee member� 

There have been two changes in membership of the committee during the year. Dr J M Goldstrom

ceased to be an Association of University Teachers (AUT) appointed director of the trustee

company on 31 August 2001 and was succeeded by Professor Charles Sutcliffe. Sir Brian Fender

ceased to be the Funding Councils' appointed director of the trustee company on 30 September

A management committee meeting 
in Liverpool. 

2001 and was succeeded by 

Sir Howard Newby. We are 

most grateful to both Dr 

Goldstrom and Sir Brian for 

their contributions to USS 

matters during their terms 

of office. 

Lord Mark Fitzalan Howard 

retired as a co-opted director 

of the trustee company with 

effect from l April 2002. 

Lord Mark had been a 

director and chairman of 

the investment committee 

since April 1993 and we are 

most grateful to him for his 

wide ranging and valued 

contribution during his 

nine years in office. He has been succeeded as chairman of the investment committee by Scott

Bell. The management committee is currently seeking to fill the co-opted vacancy caused by

Lord Mark's retirement. 

Under the Articles of Association (constitution) of the trustee company, the management 

committee comprises the trustee company's board of directors. As indicated earlier in this 

report four of the directors on the board of the trustee company are appointed by Universities 

UK (UUK) (formerly CVCP). Three directors are appointed by the AUT of whom at least 

one must be a USS pensioner member. One director is appointed by the Funding Councils. 

UUK, AUT and the Funding Councils have the power to remove their respective appointed 

directors. A minimum of two and a maximum of four directors are co-opted directors, 

appointed by the management committee with the prior approval of the joint negotiating 

committee. The approval of that committee is not however required for the reappointment of 

a co-opted director on the expiry of his or her period of office. USS Ltd directors normally 

serve a three year term but are eligible for reappointment in the above manner. In keeping with 

corporate governance principles the management committee has decided that co-opted 

director appointments will normally be for a maximum of three terms. The Articles of 

Association also provide for the removal of any director where (in various circumstances) he or 

she is prohibited from acting as a director. 
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Institutions 

At 31 March 2002 there were 309 institutions which had become member institutions by 

completmg a deed of access10n. They comprised all the 'old' UK universities (ie those established 

pnor to 1992), including the constituent schools and colleges of the universities of London and 

Wales, all the colleges of the universities of Oxford and Cambridge and 16 7 other institutions. 

Changes in institutions participating occurred as follows: 

New participating institutions 

Ashridge (Bonar Law Memorial) Trust* 

Bristol, Clifton and West of England Zoological Society* 

Centre for Migration Studies 

Connect -The Communications Disability Network 

Cranfield Aerospace Limited 

International Research Foundation for Open Learning 

Kelvin Nanotechnology 

King Alfred's College of Higher Education, Winchester* 

Regional Studies Association 

Sheffield University Enterprises Ltd 

Smith Institute 

University of Cambridge Challenge Fund 

University College Northampton* 

YHUA Ltd 

*denotes ,Ill institution Jdmitted only for employees who had been member, of USS h'] · · 
1 w 1 st 111 a prev1om emp oyment. 

Institutions which ceased to participate: 

Associated Examining Board (merged with Assessment and Qualifications Alliance) 

Northern Examinations and Assessment Board (merged with Assessment and 

Qualifications Alliance) 

Inns of Court School of Law (merged with City University) 

Expansion of USS 

As reported in previous years, the rules were 

amended on 10 December 1999 to extend 

the eligibility for new institutions to include 

those that are majority owned by one or 

more existing institution. Several of the new 

institutions that have joined this year have 

taken advantage of this rule change. The 

rules were also amended to allow current 

institutions to admit further categories of 

�taff to USS. There has been a significant 

increase this year in the number of enquiries 

from institutions wishing to merge their 

non-academic staff schemes into USS and 

discussions are ongoing with these institutions. 

A small number of institutions have decided 

to offer USS membership to other groups of 

staff but only in respect of new recruits. 
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In seeking to promote US· the committee continues to set no expectations or targets for

increased membership numbers. The only objective that has been set is to make the bendits of

participation in USS known to all organisations that are eligible to join USS, and to those that

can expand the membership of USS within their organisation, encouraging them to do so

where appropriate. The otlicers continue 

to keep representatives of the British 

Universities Finance Directors Group 

(BUFDG) informed of developments. 

Scheme membership 

During the year 17,858 new members 

joined the scheme and at 31 March 2(Hl2 

the total membership, including pensioners 

and those entitled to deterred benefits, was 

180,316 compared with 169 ,808 a year 

earlier. Further details of the change in 

membership during the year are contained 

in the section "Membership Statistics" 

on page 38 and over the five years ended 

31 March 2002 in the Sununary on page 64. 

The proportion of eligible new employees 

choosing not to join USS was 15% 

compared with 17�,{, last year. 

Stakeholder pensions 

Pensions department managers 

Bernie Steventon and Brendan Mulkern 

Stakeholder pensions legislation became effective on 6 April 2001 and employers had until

October 2(H)1 to comply with the requirements. Certain circumstances exempted employers

from the legislation. one of the main exemptions arising when membership of an occupational

pension scheme is offered as an alternative to a stakeholder pension.

Many of the institutions would have been obliged to provide access to a stakeholder pension in

respect of significant numbers of academics employed on irregular contracts (although not all

such employees would be subject to the legislation). However, the trustee company extended

the eligibility conditions by means of the twenty-third amending deed such that employees on

irregular contracts can now join USS if their employing institution so decides.

Rule amendments 

The current USS rules are represented by the Supplemental Declaration of Trust which was

executed on 7 Febru.iry 1994 and, as at 31 March 2( l( )2, twenty six deeds of amendment. T,vo

deeds of amendment were executed during the year. Details on the rule <unendments are given

in the report of the joint negotiating committee on page 32.

Pensions sharing on di\'orce 

Members are now able to share pension scheme benefits with their ex-spouse in the event of

their divorce. A comprehensive fact sheet has been produced for members and their ad\'iser�

providing detailed information. A charge, in line with National Assocation of Pension Fund\

recommendation, is made for the implementation of a court order for pension sharing. There

were more th,m 300 requests for information up to 31 March 2002 although only one court

order was received for implementation.
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P ension increases
Rule 15 of USS provides that pensions in payment, deferred pensions and deferred lump sumspayable from the main section shall be increased in a similar manner to the increases providedfor official pensions under the P ensions (Increase) Act 1971 (although increases on the amountof pension which represents the G uaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) are treated differently -see below). As reported last year, USS pensions were increased by 3.3% on 21 April 2001. On 21 April 2002 pensions which satisfied certain qualifying conditions and began before 24 April2001 were increased by 1. 7% with smaller increases applying for pensions which began after thatdate. Deferred pensions and deferred lump sums were increased by the same rate. 

That part of the pension payable from the main section of USS which represents the pre-1988GMP is generally not increased by USS as increases are paid by the Department of SocialSecurity, as are increases in excess of 3% on that part of the pension which represents the post-

Pensions Department supervisors 

(back row) Dave Caldwell, Martin Gains, Jeanette Stevens, 

Julie Upton, Eifion Morris and 

(seated) Carol Bradshaw, Linda Saunders and Pat Ross. 

Pension increases in ]l)l)7 ,md 2!HHJ 

1988 GMP More detail on
the way in which increases are 

applied to the GMP is given
in the USS booklet Pension 

Increases - h!for111atio11 jiJr USS

Pmsio11ers which has been
issued to all USS pensioners.
R ule 15 also provides thar
pensions payable from the
supplementary section shall be 

increased to the extent that 

the trustee company, acting on
actuarial advice, decides. As a
result, pensions arising from
the supplementary section
were increased at the ,ame 

rates as those that applied to
the main section.

In April 1997 and April 2000, the years following the last two actuarial valuations, USS Ltd paiddiscretionary increases to pensioners of 0. 9'.i-,, and 1.0'Yc, respectively. These increases were paidin addition to the normal increases that were paid in line with the R etail Price Index (R PI). Asfor the normal annual R PI increase, the discretionary increases were paid only on the USSpension in excess of the GMP so that the GMP component of the original member 's pensiondid not receive any discretionary increase. 
It was subsequently identified that the rule change introducing these increases in each year hadbeen misinterpreted and that the discretionary increase should, in fact, have been applied to the foll pension including the GMP 
An exercise was carried out to identify all USS pensioners, widows, widowers and dependantswhose benefits had been underpaid. Corrections for existing pensioners were processed in theFebruary 2002 payroll. Payments to widows, widowers and dependants were included in the July2002 payroll. An exercise is currently ongoing to make payments to the estates of beneficiarieswho were entitled to these payments but ,vho died before the corrections were made.
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Contribution rates
d 31The rates of contributions payable by members and institutions between 1 April 2001 an 

March 2()()2 were as follows:
USS lain Section
USS Supplementary Section

Member
Institution
Member 

Institution

6% of salary
14% of salary
0.35'Yt, of salary
Nil

Actu ,1rial 111,ltters • · I · b h · h 11 on page 61 It reports that the last tull actuanal va uat1on wasA statement y t e actuary 1s s ow , · 
d· d t 31 March 1999 that actuarial reviews were completed as at 31 March 2000 an carne out as a · 

. . . . . M h "OO" 31 March '.WO J, and that a forth er foll actuarial valuat10n 1s bemg earned out as at 31 arc - -·
The acruary also car ried out a limited review of the financial position of the_ scheme_ as at 30
S b . "001 in the light of the events of 11 September and the general detenorat1on m eqmtyeptem e1 - , 

. · f h h markets during the year. His conclusion was that, although the funding pm1t10� 0 t e SC eme 

had fallen from its level at the last valuation, the scheme nevertheless rema111ed 111 surplus. 
Th I · 

t 31 March 2002 will be completed before the end of 2002 and the resultse va uat10n as a 
. - h · · · 'will haw been communicated to all interested parties prior to the meenng ot t e mst1tut10�s · T hursday 5 December 2()()2 when it will be an item on the agenda. Meanwhile,representatives on · hethe actuary has recommended to the management committee that no change be made 111 t 

institutions' contribution rate.
Accounting matters . 

. .. The �rincipal financial statements for Umversmes Superannuation Scheme_ and Umversmes
Superannuation Scheme Limited (the trustee company) are set out later 111 this report. 
The accounts of the trustee
company show a decrease in
operating costs from £21. 9
million 111 20()()/2001 to
£21.4 million in 2001 /2002, a
decrease of 2.6%.
However, included within these 

figures are amounts recovered
during the year in respect of
costs charged to the accounts in 
previous years in three specific 

Accounts Department supervisors Mike McGreal, 

Shelagh O'Grady, Elaine Matthews and Allison Tarleton.

areas_ VAT, legal costs relating _ • . 
11 ee to USS Ltd's claims against its former general manager investments and its fidelity guara t 

insurers and extraordimry service charges in respect of USS Ltd's former premises m Liverpool.
· · d b .., 6° ' consisting of an increase inExcluding these items, total operatmg costs mcrease . Y -· 7o, _ -o, L 

investment management costs of 2.3';-i, and in ad1111111strat1on costs ot 3.:,/o. 
For the second year running the fund's investments produced a negative return, with the total - - · · b h . k for the year 2001. However, Capital International, thetund underpertorm111g lts enc mar 

. _ . . .. external manager whose tee is performance related, contmued to outpe1torm Its benchma1k so
that investment management costs remain high.
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In the Liverpool office considerable effort during the year focussed on successfully reducing 

backlogs and returning to a satisfactory level of service. While much of the credit for this 

achievement was due to etliciencies introduced by the Universal Pensions Management system 

implemented in 20(Hl, an increase in staff numbers was also necessary and this is the main reason 

for the increase in administration costs. 

Full details regarding the operating costs and a review of the activities for the year are given in 

the Directors' Report & Accounts on page 65. 

Legal action 

For over 10 years USS Ltd has been seeking recompense from its former general manager 

investments, Mr Spink, and from its fidelity guarantee insurers, the Royal &:. Sun Alliance, in 

connection with USS Ltd's investment in Jeffrey S Levitt Ltd, an unquoted investment of the 

fund which went into receivership in May 1991. The matter came to court in January 2002 and 

after four days in court :111 out of court settlement was agreed. The exact terms of the settlement 

are subject to a confidentiality provision and cannot be disclosed but the overall settlement to 

USS Ltd from both its insurers and from Mr Spink is considered acceptable by the directors. Part 

of the amount received is in respect of the recovery of the legal costs of this particular action in 

this and in previous years and is included in the financial statements of USS Ltd while the 

balance is included in the financial statements of the fund. 

Investment policy 

The arrangements for management of the assets and custody, together with the approximate 

proportion managed by each manager at 31 March 2002, are as follows: 

(a) 49.6'Y., is managed internally by the trustee company's London Investment Office (with JP

Morgan as custodian). Of this 41.2% are securities and 8.4'\, are property assets;

(b) 8"'o is managed by Baillie Gifford (with Deutsche Bank as custodian); 8.4'Y., is managed by

Capital International (with Deutsche Bank as custodi:111); 7.9% is managed by Schroder

Investment Management (\vith Deutsche Bank as custodian);

(c) 22.9% is administered internally on the advice ofHSBCJames Capel Quantitative Techniques

on a basis to track the FTSE All-Share Index of UK equities (withJ P Morgan as custodian);

(d) 1.1 'J,;, is managed by Merrill Lynch Investment M.111:igas on the basis of providing an

enhanced return to that of the FTSE All-Share Index of UK equities (with Bank of New

York as custodian);

(e) 1.2'Yo is managed by Henderson Global Investors Limited on the basis of providing an enhanced

return to that of the FTSE All-Share Index of UK equities (with JP Morgan as custodian);

(t) 0.9']'o of the fond is represented by insurance policies.

The managers in (a) and (b) above each manage their share of USS securities on the basis of a 

balanced brief. 

The year to 31 December '.WO 1 was another poor year for pension fond performance generally 

with negative returns for the average fi.md for the second successive year. It was also a poor year 

for the fund. The fund's performance for the yeJr failed to meet its target, ranking in the 72nd 

percentile of the WM 50. The fund has also underpe1formed its peer group over the last five 

years while over ten ye.w, its performance is exactly in line with the peer group average. 

Further details of the investment targets, investment petiormance and amounts managed by each 

manager are given in the report of the investment committee. 
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As was reported in previous years, it is a requirement of the Pensions Act 1995 that the trustees 

of each pension scheme draw up and maintain a statement of investment principles. This 

statement must lay down the investment objectives of the pension scheme and explain why these 

objectives are suitable for the particular circumstances of the scheme. The management 

committee took the view that, for USS, this statement should provide significantly greater 

information about the management of the scheme's investments than is required under the Act. 

The full text, which was agreed following consultation with the participating employers, 

commences on page 34 and is unchanged from the statement which was included in the Report 

& Accounts last year. 

The paragraphs on socially responsible and sustainable investment have been simplified from 

those which were included in the original statement which was published in 1997. 

A more detailed briefing on this issue, which may be amended from time to time. and USS's 

policy statements on corporate governance are published on the USS Ltd website. 

Myners R.e,·iew 

The Aly11crs Rcl'iCII' tf illstit11tio11al ill11cst111c11t published its final report in March 2001. The report 

concluded that there were a number of areas where change would result in a clearer investment 

decision making process. The report made a number of recommendations and proposed two sets 

of principles of investment for pension funds, one for defined benefit schemes and the other for 

Clive Edwards and Peter Moon 

of the London Investment Office. 

defined contribution schemes. The report 

led to widespread debate in the pensions 

industry and following a period of 

consultation the government published its 

response to the Myners Review proposals 

in September 2001. The government 

largely accepted the report's proposals but 

restated the principles of investment in a 

slightly amended format. 

The mJnage;:ment committee considers 

that USS Ltd largely complies with the 

government's recommendations but 

recognises that some changes will be 

necessary in order to comply fully with 

all the recommendations. It hJs therefore 

set up a working party under the 

chairmanship of the chairman of the 

investment committee, Scott Bell, to 

consider the changes that should be made 

to ensure USS Ltd complies with the government's recommendations. The government intends 

to carry out a public assessment of the effectiveness of the principles in bringing about change 

beginning in March 2003. The working party will be reporting to the management committee 

by the end of 2002 and it is the intention that USS Ltd will comply fully with all the 

government's recommendations as soon as possible. 

One of the principles concerns the effectiveness of the investment decision making proce,, and 

the management committee believes it would be helpful if the way in which investment 

decisions at USS Ltd are taken was made clearer. Much of this is set out in rule 20.5 of the 
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scheme rules. The management committee retains the overall power of investment in relation 

to the fund but can delegate to the investment committee the power to decide the investment 

policy of the fund (rule 20.S(g)). In practice, the investment committee will generally make 

recommendations to the management committee, rather than decisions, on matters of strategy. 

This would encompass, for example, changes in the fund's investment objective, its investment 

target, the appointment and remit of external managers, investment in new asset classes (such as 

private equity) and decisions on whc:ther to participate in new investment activities (such as 

securities lending). In making its recommendations, the investment committee receives advice 

from its external investment consultants, Mercer Investment Consulting. All stock selection 

decisions are made by the individual investment managers (either internal or external) within 

constraints recommended by the investment committee and agreed by the management 

committee. The external balanced managers have fi.1ll discretion over asset allocation although 

the chief investment officer and the investment committee monitor their activity. The internally 

managed fund recommends changes to its asset allocation policy on a half yearly basis for the 

approval of the investment committee. The investment committee also determines the 

appropriate allocation of cash (new money) between the different managers on a quarterly basis. 

The management committee believes that this structure, together with the range of expertise of 

its in-house staff, committee members and external managers and advisers, enables the trustee 

company to make effective investment decisions. 

Corporate goYernancc 

The directors of USS Ltd acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring that the company has in 

place appropriate systems of internal control which are designed to give reasonable assurance that: 

• financial information used within the scheme or for publication is reliable and rhar proper

accounting records are maintained;

• assets are safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition;

• the trustee company and the scheme are being operated efficiently and effectively;

• relevant legislation is complied with.

Any system of intt'rnal control, however, can only provide n:3 onable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss and cannot eliminate business r isk. 

The management committee of USS, which comprises the board of directors of the trustee 

company, meets at least four times a year and receives reports on a quarterly basis from its main 

sub-committees: the finance & general purposes committee, the investment committee, the 

audit committee, the joint negotiating committee and the advisory committee. It also receives 

reports as required from the remuneration committee. The functions of the investment 

committee, the joint negotiating committee and the advisory committee are set out in the 

reports which follow this report. 

The finance & general purposes commmee reviews the financial estimates and cash flow 

forecasts produced annually by the officers and monitors progress each quarter against them. It 

also receives an annual report on corporate performance which reviews the productivity of the 

office during the year. 

The audit committee reviews the scheme's annual financial statements and accounting policies. 

It also considers reports from the internal audit manager, the compliance officer, the external 

auditors and regulatory bodies such as the FSA. The chairman of the committee has regular 

meetings with the compliance officer. At least once a year the committee meets with the 

external auditors without the officers being present. 

1-1

UNIVERSITIES SUPERANNUAl ION SCHEME 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

The remuneration committee makes recommendations to the management committee on terms 

and conditions of employment for all officers and staff of USS Ltd. 

Internal audit within the trustee company consists of an internal audit manager, one full-time 

assistant and one part-time assistant. It reviews the operation of the internal control systems 

affecting the trustee company and the scheme and where relevant at external suppliers. Each year 

the internal audit manager, in conjunction with senior management, carries out a formal evaluation 

Terry Raby, Philip Brayne and Collette Curry 

of Internal Audit 

of the risks facing the organisation 

and the audit programme is tailored 

in the light of this evaluation. The 

chief executive's management 

group considers reports each month 

from the internal audit manager and 

reviews the risk management and 

control process to consider whether 

any changes to internal controls, or 

responses to changes in the levels of 

risk, are required. Any weaknesses 

identified in these reviews are 

discussed with management and an 

action plan is agreed to ::iddress 

them. Through regular reports by 

the internal audit manager, the audit committee monitors the operation of the internal controls 

in force and any perceived gaps in the control environment. 

The directors confirm that they have established procedures such that they fully comply 

with the Turnbull Working Party's guidance for directors on internal control for the year ended 

31 March '.W02. 

The management committee, through its audit committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the 

process for identifying, evaluating and managing the key risks affecting the scheme. 

Administration 

The service provided to members and institutions continues to be monitored each quarter. 

Reports showing achievements compared with targets are reviewed by the finance & general 

purposes committee and are discussed at meetings of the institutions' finance officers' group, a 

liaison committee which met twice during the year. 

Development and enhancement of the new pensions administration software, the U niversal 

Pensions Management system, has continued since its implementation in August 2000 and 

increased productivity has been achieved following the implementation. Operational difficulties 

mentioned last year were largely overcome during the year and the levels of service being 

provided to member institutions and individual members were reinstated to a satisfactory 

standard. 

Two administration seminars were held during the year at the Liverpool office and two pension 

workshops, one at King's College and one at U niversity College, London, as part of the ongoing 

programme of activities to foster good communication between the trustee company and the 

members of staff at institutions who are involved with the administration of the scheme. The 

two institution advisory panels each met three times during the year. The advisory panels which 

comprise administrators who regularly deal with USS discuss a wide range of topics \Vhich 

15 



UNIVER�ITIES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

COMMIT TEE RE PO R T S  

provides the trustee company with helpful advice and comments. One major topic of discussion 

is the provision of annual benefit statements. The annual meeting with institutions' 

representatives took place in London in November 2001 and a full report of the proceedings is 

available on our website. 

The trustee company reviews its activities regularly in conjunction with its advisers to ensure 

that the scheme remains fully compliant with all relevant legislation and other requirements. 

During the year there were 42 instances of late payment of contributions by institutions. Of 

these 24 related to late payment of member AVC contributions to the Prudential, 14 related to 

late payment of premature retirement scheme contributions and four were late payment of 

employee and employer contributions. Of these 14 were reported to OPRA jointly by the 

trustee company and the scheme actuary. The auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, however, still 

has a requirement to report all late payments of contributions to OPRA and reported on all 

instances during the year. Each late payment occurred as a result of an administrative problem 

or oversight and in each case contributions were subsequently remitted in full. 

The Pensions Act 1995 required the trustees or managers of an occupational pension scheme to 

h,1\'e introduced by 6 April 1997 formal arrangements for the resolution of disputes with 

members about matters relating to the scheme. USS Ltd's arrangements provide for a specified 

officer of the scheme, (the chief pensions manager) on the application of a complainant, to give 

Di Brown, Joyce Kenwright, 

Sharon Cadwallader and Julie Roberts; 

the Liverpool secretarial team. 

a decision on such a dispute and for 

the trustees or managers, on the 

application of the complainant 

following that decision, to review 

the matter in question and either 

confirm the decision or give a new 

decision in its place. The first 

decision in this process is taken by 

the chief pensions manager but the 

advisory committee, augmented for 

this purpose alone by two members 

of the management committee ( one 

nominated by UUK and the other 

by the AUT) takes the second 

decision. This internal dispute 

resolution procedure was used 10 

times during the year in respect of complaints brought against the trustee company. Six cases 

were considered during the year by the advisory committee in its enlarged second-stage dispute 

resolution capacity, and the stage one decision taken by the chief pensions manager was upheld 

in three cases. In the three other cases the enlarged advisory committee did not uphold the stage 

one decision and instead made a recommendation for compensation. 

Since the statutory prohibition in April 1988 of compulsory membership of occupational 

pension schemes as a condition of employment, now contained in Section 16() of the Pension 

Schemes Act 1993, about one sixth of employees eligible to join USS have elected not to do so, 

which means that they will either have a personal pension or be participating in SERPS or with 

effect from October 2001 have a stakeholder pension. This suggests, as mentioned earlier in the 

section relating to scheme membership, that a significant number of university employees continue 

to take decisions about their pension arrangements which may not be in their best interests. 
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Equitable Life Assurance Society 

A small proportion of the fund continued to be held during the year in the form of life assurance 

policies which were assigned to it in respect of former Federated Superannuation System for 

Universities (FSSU) members. All the policies were held with the Equitable Life Assurance 

Society (ELAS). 

Despite having been successful in reaching a compromise agreement with its members, which 

was approved by the High Court in February, ELAS had another difficult year which saw further 

reductions applied to policy values. USS Ltd formally requested a surrender value of its policies 

in August 2001 but it was 24 May 2002 before ELAS was able to provide a figure. According to 

ELAS the delay was due to difficulties in calculating a surrender value for some 19,UOO policies. The 

actuary was asked to review the options that were available and to provide advice to the trustee 

company to assist it in determining whether or not to surrender the policies. Some of the policies 

contained certain guarantees and it was important for the trustee company to consider all possible 

options before deciding whether or not to surrender some or all of the policies. 

After due consideration of the advice received from the actuary, the decision was taken at the end 

ofJuly to surrender all the policies. 

USS ,1ccrual rate 

A consultation process took place during the year with both employers and members to 

ascertain the level of support for a possible improvement in the USS accrual rate to 60ths. 

A meeting on the subject was held at the University of Southampton with vice-chancellors 

during the UUK conference in September 2001 and there was a further discussion at the USS 

institutions' meeting at BAFTA on 14 November 2001. 

A letter was sent to all institutions in August 2001 from Professor Sir Martin Harris on behalf of 

the UUK directors of USS Ltd seeking their response to the proposals. A similar letter was issued 

in October 2001 by the AUT directors of USS Ltd to all members of USS seeking their responses. 

About two thirds of those institutions that responded (measured in terms of membership numbers) 

were generally not in favour of a change in the accrual rate. The response from the membership 

was very much in favour of a change although only a small number of members responded. 

No decision on any change in the accrual rate will be made until the results of the triennial actuarial 

valuation as at 31 March 2002 are known. The results of the consultation process, the prospect 

of reduced investment returns in the future and, quite likely, a reduced surplus at the next 

valuation make a decision to improve the accrual rate to 60ths for both past service and future 

service look considerably less likely now than when the working party was first set up in 1997 

to consider the matter. Preliminary results of the valuation are likely to be available in September 

2002 and the trustee company should then be in a position to indicate to members and 

institutions whether or not it will be taking the proposals further or considering other options. 

I )i,closure requirements 

The general rights which members and beneficiaries have always had to request information under 

trust law have been greatly supplemented by statutory disclosure requirements which now apply 

under the Occupational Pension Schemes (Disclosure oflnformation) Regulations 1996. Where 

the requirement is for a document to be available for reference by an interested person, it is met 

by the provision to each institution from our Liverpool office of a Disclosure Kit containing the 

required documents. Other information, for example A11 Introd11ctory Guide for Nell' 1\lembers, 

must be provided to every new member and supplies are available from our Liverpool office to 
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enable institutions to issue them as part of their appointment procedures. Individual statements 

are required on the occurrence of certain events such as leaving service, retirement or death and 

these are provided by our Liverpool office as part of the processing of such benefits. 

The above disclosure regulations require that a number of statements are made in a document 

which accompanies the audited accounts and actuarial statements and, insofar as they do not 

appear elsewhere in the Report and Accounts, they are given below. 

A copy of the statement on Pension Trust Principles issued by the Occupational Pensions Board 

( the functions of which were assumed by OPRA in April 1997) has been issued to each member 

of the management committee, as has a copy of the Guide to Pension Scheme Trustees issued by 

OPRA. A copy is held at the trustee company's registered office and is available for inspection 

by those persons. 

Enquiries about the scheme generally or about an individual's entitlement should be sent to the 

trustee company's registered office. 

Transfer values paid during the year were determined in accordance with the Pension 

Schemes Act 1993 and appropriate regulations. No transfer values paid represented less than 

their full cash equivalent. 

USS has had no employer-related investments during the year other than the contributions 

received late from institutions which are disclosed in note 19 of the USS accounts. The scheme's 

assets are invested in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Investment) 

Regulations 1996. 

The financial statements have been prepared and audited in accordance with regulations made 

under section 41( 1) and 41( 6) of the Pensions Act 1995. 
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

The investment committee advises the trustee company on all matters relating to the investment 

of the fond's assets. 

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2001/2002 

• 2001 was a poor year for investment returns generally with the average fund in the WM 50,

the survey of the performance of the largest pension funds, returning -8.3%. This trend has

continued into 2002. The return for USS was -10.1% giving a relative return of -1.8% against

the WM 50 universe.

• Despite the poor results in 2000 and 2001, the positive longer term investment climate is

reflected in results. The ten year return for the fund was 10.9% pa placing it in the 48th

percentile of comparable funds. Over the same ten year period, average earnings growth has

been 4% pa and retail price inflation 2.5'Y., pa.

• Including net cash flow and capital movements, the value of the investments in the fund fell

to £19.8 billion on 31 March 2002, compared to £19.9 billion a year earlier.

• A working party has been set up to consider the implications of the Myners review and will

report to the management committee in November of this year.

• USS Ltd organised a seminar on climate change, which was attended by about 200 people. A

document setting out USS Ltd's corporate governance policy was circulated to all companies

in which it invests.

• The attacks in the US on 11 September have served to heighten uncertainty in financial

markets and this has been compounded by accounting scandals uncovered in a number of large

US corporations.

• During the year £450 million, about 10% of the portfolio which tracks the FTSE All-Share

Index, was taken out of that fund and placed with enhanced index products managed by

Merrill Lynch Investment Managers and Henderson Global Investors Limited.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT 

The fund's investments are divided between those 

under the direct control of USS Ltd and those 

managed externally. The internal management 

team at the London Investment Office manages 

the majority of the assets. A separate fund designed 

to match the performance of the FTSE All­

Share Index is run in-house on advice provided 

by HSBC James Capel Quantitative Techniques. 

The external managers throughout the year to 

31 March 2002 were Schroder Investment 

Management, Baillie Gifford & Company and 

Capital International. All these managers have 

a balanced fund remit. Schroder Investment 

Management and Baillie Gifford were 

remunerated through fixed annual fees and 

Capital International through a performance­

related fee. 
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Merrill Lynch Investment Managers and Henderson 

Global Investors Limited were appointed to run part 

of the All-Share Index fi.md on an enhanced 

performance basis. Merrill Lynch were remunerated 

through an ad valorem fee and Henderson through 

a performance-related fee. 

LaSalle Investment Management administer the 

properties within the portfolio and advise on their 

selection. For these services they charge both 

management and transaction-related fees. 

The fee arrangements in each case are considered by 

the trustee company to be the most cost efficient way 

of remunerclting the managers. 
Marie Wardell and Wendy Lewis; 

London Investment Office receptionists. An analysis of the total investments of the fund at 31 

March 2!Hl2, along with the comparative figures for 

the preceding year, is set out in the table on page 21. The investments are stated at market value 

and details of the changes in value are summarised in Note 9 of the USS accounts on page 55. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The committee attaches great importance to the maintenance of good standards of corporate 

governance and social and environmental responsibility by companies in which the investments

are held. Three specialist advisers have

been recruited with expertise in corporate

governance, environmental and social issues

and they are active 111 monitoring the

performance of companies against relevant

international or benchmark standards.

Through meetings with companies and

other activities, USS Ltd aims to influence

management on these governance and

related issues, thereby helping to ensure

their good standing with customers and

investors. This active engagement appro:ich

is time consuming but, in the long term,

it will benefit the fund. The London Graham Burnett - Fund Manager Commercial Property 

and Robert Walden - Fund Surveyor. 
Investment Office also seeks to ensure 

that USS Ltd's voting rights as regards 

UK companies are exercised on every occasion. Mechanisms are being developed whereby these

additim1Jl resources can be utilised and made accessible to fund managers so that they can make

informed decisions on these aspects of the investment process.
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TOTAL INVESTMENTS OF THE FUND 

Type of Investment 

Investments under the 
direct control of USS Ltd 

Quoted securities 
UK 

Fixed 

Interest 

£m 

Overseas 688.7 
Property 

UK 
Cash/stockbroker balances 

UK 
Overseas 

Sub-total 688.7 

Investments managed internally 
on the basis of external advice 

Index fond 
UK 

Investments managed externally 
(passive) 

Merrill Lynch 
UK 

Henderson 
UK 
Overseas 

Sub-total 

Investments managed externally 

Baillie Gifford 
UK 
Overseas 

C.1pital International
UK
Overseas

Schroder 
UK 
Overseas 

Life assurance policies 
UK 
Overseas 

Sub-total 

Total investments 

UK 
Overseas 

127.6 
79.5 

185.4 
75.2 

141.5 
89.8 

92.!l 

791.0 

546.5 
933.2 

Total 1,479.7 

Percentage at 31 March 2002 

UK 
Overseas 

Total percentage 

Total percentage at 
31 March 2001 

2.8 
4.7 

7.5 

7.7 

COMMITTEE REPORT S 

Index­

Linked 

£m 

21.9 

21.9 

124.4 

146.!l 

105.3 

Cash and 

Equities Properties Equivalent 
£m £m £m 

4,0 l 4.4 
3,092.4 

7, 1!l6.9 

4,529.5 

221.6 

235.9 

4,987.!l 

757.6 
425.6 

742.2 
476.2 

750.8 
424.8 

4().3 
12.7 

1,666.9 

1,666.9 

24.3 

376.0 
((13.6) 

312.4 

6.1 

0.2 

6.3 

64.3 
J.() 

S!l.3 
(19.8) 

82.(1 
(33.4) 

14.1 

375.7 3,630.2 24.3 159.1 

31 March 2001 

Total Total 

£m % 

4,036.3 
3,781.1 

1,666.9 

376.0 
(63.6) 

9,796.7 

4,535.6 

221.6 

235.9 
0.2 

4,993.3 

1,073.9 
506.1 

1,123.9 
531.6 

1,080.2 
481.2 

170.7 
12.7 

4,980.3 

20.4 
19.1 

8.4 

1.9 
(0.3) 

49.5 

23.0 

1.1 

1.2 

25.3 

5.4 
2.5 

5.7 
2.7 

5.5 
2.4 

0.9 
0.1 

25.2 

397.6 11,292.3 
4,431.7 

1,691.2 593.4 14,521.0 
(115.6) 5,249.3 

73.5 
26.5 

397 .6 15,724.!l 

2.0 

2.!l 

1.4 

57.1 
22.4 

79.5 

79.6 

1,691.2 

8.6 

8.6 

8.1 

21 

477.8 19,770.3 

3.!l 
(0.6) 

2.4 

3.2 

100.0 

73.5 
26.5 

100.0 

31 March 2001 

Total Total 

£m % 

3,938.2 
3,827.1 

1,592.1 

261.3 
205.3 

9,824.0 

5,059.8 

5,059.8 

1,065.8 
495.3 

1,104.1 
540.6 

1,114.8 
459.9 

183.8 
28.3 

4,992.6 

14,319.9 
5,556.5 

19,876.4 

19.8 
19.3 

8.0 

1.3 
1.0 

49.4 

25.5 

25.5 

5.4 
2.5 

5.6 
2.7 

5.6 
2.3 

0.9 
0.1 

25.1 

72.0 
28.0 

100.0 

100.0 
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WMSO PENSION FUND SURVEY FOR 2001 

The fund participates in the above survey of pension fund performance. In 2001 the survey 

covered the largest pension funds with a combined value of £277 billion. These funds represent 

about 60% of assets in the WM All Funds Universe. 

Average pension fimd results for 2001 
Investment returns reported in the 2001 survey showed that the average WM 50 pension fund 

performed poorly with equities falling in value but property and bonds increasing in value. 

Total investment returns for 2()( l 1 in sterling (WMS! l Pension Fund Survey) 

1().()l}o - -- -- ----- ---------- ---

-0.5% 

-5.0% 

-lll.0% -8.3% 

-15.0% 
-12.9% 

-14.9% 

UK Overseas UK Overseas Index Cash Property Total 

Equities Equities Bonds Bonds Linked and other Assets 

USS RESULTS 

The previous section showed the remits of the average pension fund in the WM 50 . This section 

analyses the performance of USS itself. 

The fi.md adopted the following peliormance target from 1 January 1999: 

Tii exceed the ..f.Oth percentile (f the TCH 50 wm property 1111il'erse o!'er a rolli11g _fiz,e-year period. 

The investment in the indexed portion of the fund gives a consistent tilt towards UK equities 

by increasing the total equity content of the fund. This may result in the peliormance of the 

fund differing significantly year by year from the average fund performance within the WM 

Survey but the committee believes that, over the longer term, equities are likely to provide the 

best return from available asset classes. 

Longer term results 

Over the ten years to 31 December 2001, the total fund returned W.9'Y., pa, very much in line

with the average for all funds in the WM 50 Universe survey. Average earnings increased by

4.0% pa and the retail price index grew by 2.5% pa. Over this period therefore the fund's real

return comfortably exceeded the assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of the scheme.
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Perfr)l"m,mce over the five year, to JI December 21 H l I 

Taking the five years 1997 to 2001 together, the following annualised returns were achieved: 

Baillie Gifford 

London Investment Office 

Schroder Investment Management 

Annualised 

Return 

% 

8.5 

8.3 

7.5 

(Capital International only became a manager of USS funds in 1998) 

WM50 Survey ex Property 

Percentile 

21 

24 

52 

Over the five-year period the total fund including property returned 7.6% pa, about 0.5% behind 

the average fund performance, ranking it in the 69th percentile in the WM 50 survey. 

Perfi)rm.mce over the three years to JI December 21 H l I 

Annualised WM50 Survey ex Property 

Return Percentile 

% 

Capital International 6 .7 5 

Schroder Investment Management 2.8 50 

London Investment Office 2.8 50 

Baillie Gifford 2.6 52 

Over the three-year period the total fund including property returned 3 .0% pa, about 0.3% behind 

the average fund, ranking it in the 59th percentile in the WM 50 survey. 

Peliorm,mce in 21 H l I 

The total returns achieved during 2001 are shown below: 

Capital International 

Baillie Gifford 

Schroder Investment Management 

London Investment Office 

Annualised 

Return 

% 

(6.6) 

(7.1) 

(8.8) 

(11. 7) 

WM50 Survey ex Property 

Percentile 

24 

26 

39 

83 

Excluding property, the average fund in the WM 50 Universe returned a negative 9.3%. 

The total fund including property returned -10.1 % against the WM 50 average fund performance 

of -8 .3%, ranking it in the 72nd percentile. 
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INVESTMENT REPORT 

The world economic slow-down which started at the beginning of 2000 has continued through 
to the first quarter of 2002, but there are tentative signs that the economy is now strengthening. 
Aggressive fiscal action and substantial monetary easing after the terrorist attacks in the US in 

September 2001 assisted the recovery in the world economy. 

This fiscal and monetary stance has remained loose into 2002 and, given the present fragile state 
of investor and corporate confidence, this is likely to continue for some time yet. Against this 
background we believe that corporate profitability, which is the key to market performance, will 
start to improve later in 2002. 

Last year's report outlined concerns that if consumer prices started to nse coupled with a 
continued weak corporate profit performance then equity markets could fall substantially. In the 
event, consumer prices did not rise but markets still performed poorly. This was partly due to 
the terrorist attacks but it also reflects more recently the increasing concern over US and 
international accounting practices. 

We expect equity markets generally to recover at some stage during 2002 as eqmties look 
relatively cheap versus bonds. The difficulty is in predicting at which level markets will bottom 
out and therefore from which point the recovery of equity markets will begin. The internally 
managed portion of the fund has been gradually committing cash to the markets and reducing 
its liquidity position. 

The performance of the major markets for the year to 31 March 2002 is shown below: 

Equity and fixed interest market total return, fix the ye,ir to 31 March 21 ll 12 

Equities Fixed Interest 

Local Currency 

UK 
Germany 
France 
USA 
Japan 
Pacific ex-Japan 
UK Property 

Source: 
FT Actuaries World Indices 
J P Morgan Government Bond Indices 

Investment Property Databank 

% 

(2.8) 
(5.3) 
(6.2) 
(0.3) 

(16.0) 
10.3 

7.2 
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Sterling Local Currency Sterling 

% % % 

(2.8) 1.6 1.6 

(6.7) 2.6 1.1 

(7.6) 3.1 1.6 
(0.4) 3.2 3.1 

(20.7) 1.0 (4.7) 
12.8 

7.2 

UNIVERSITIES SUl'EilANNUATION SCH[Mc 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Equity ,md fixed inten·,t market total returns fi.)r the year to 31 M,irch 20112 

Equities 

15.0°u 
---- - --- - - - - - - - --- -- - - - - -��- - - - -

111.11",, ------

-6.7% -6.2% -7.6'!, 
-10.ll'!i, -- -----------==.!!._--- --...._J .... _..J-- - - ------

-1.'i.11% -------------------....__J .... _.1----- --- ---
-16.0% 

-211.0% ------------- - -- - -- --..__ .J----------

-20.7% 
-25.0°11 - - - - - - - - - ------ - - - - - - - -- - - ------

UK Gennany France 

• LocJl currencv 

• Sterling 

Fixed Interest 

USA Japan Pacific 
ex-Japan 

UK 
Property 

1.0% 

-1.ll"·o - -----------------------------..._J--

-2.0%1 --------------------- - - - - -- -....,_, 

-3.0% -- - - - - - -- - - ------------------------�_ .. _ 

-4.0% -- - - ----------------------- -� 

-5.0% ---- -- - --- --- - -------- --- -----==----

UK Germany 

• Local currency 

• Sterling 

France 
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PROPERTY 

Property investment remained out of favour during 2001 and the retail market and the high tech 

occupier market in particular suffered very poor performance. The fund has a heavy exposure 

to both markets and consequently the fund's property portfolio significantly underperformed its 

investment benchmark return of 7 .0% by returning just 1.1 % for the year to December. 

However, the retail market has recovered strongly in the early part of this year and investor 

sentiment has improved significantly. 

Colliers Conrad Ritblat Erdman independently valued the portfolio as at 31 March 2002 at 

£1,666. 9 million and a breakdown by type and location is shown below: 

USS property portfolio - type of investment 

Freehold Leasehold Total 

£m £m £m % 

Retail 717.2 23.2 740.4 44.42 

Retail Warehouse 94.3 94.3 5.66 

Office 148.1 34.8 182.9 10.97 

Business space 214.2 7.1 221.3 13.28 

Industrial 144.1 28.0 172.1 10.32 

Agricultural 0.4 0.4 0.02 

Developments 245.2 10.3 255.5 15.33 

TOTAL 1,563.5 103.4 1,666.9 100.0 

Retail 44A2% 

Retail Warehouse 5.66% 

Office 10.97% 

Developments 15.33% 

Industrial 10.32% 
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USS property portfolio - geographical location 

Inner London 

Outer London 

South East 

South West 

East Anglia 

East Midlands 

West Midlands 

Wales 

North West 

Yorkshire 

Scotland 

TOTAL 

Yorkd1ire 6.11110 

North West 7.9'].., 

Inner London 6.4° 0 

Outer London 1.2°0 

East Anglia 4.0% 

East Midlands 1.8% 

£m % 

106.0 6.4 

20.0 1.2 

590.2 35.4 

49.1 2.9 

67.0 4.0 

30.8 1.8 

288.7 17.3 

30.0 1.8 

131.0 7.9 

99.3 6.0 

254.8 15.3 

1,666.9 100.0 

South East J5.4° u 

Net income for the year to 31 March 2002 rose from £73.4 million in the previous year to 

£92.4 million, mainly as a result of completed rent reviews, lettings and acquisition activities. 
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New Investment 

The fund agreed to fund a speculative industrial development at Birmingham, adjacent to the M6 

and purchased office buildings at Temple Quay, Bristol and at Marylebone Lane, London, W1. 

A retail warehouse park at Sixfields, Northampton was also purchased. 

The fund has invited Grosvenor to act as development and project manager for the Grand Arcade 

shopping scheme proposed in central Cambridge. The scheme will be partly prelet to the John 

Lewis Partnership and Grosvenor will co-invest 20% of the scheme's cost. 

At Leeds ,  the City Council has resolved to seek compulsory powers to facilitate the fund's Trinity 

Quarter central area redevelopment. 

Di,pos,1ls 

The fond sold 125 Colmore Row, Birmingham, a substantial office investment let to Lloyds Bank, 

for a price significantly above valuation and book cost. 

NET NEW INVESTMENT 

An analysis of the net new investment undertaken during the year to 31 M.1rch 2002, along with 

the comparative figures for the preceding year, is set out in the table below: 

2002 2001 

£m % £m % 

Securities 636.8 121.8 409.0 68.7 

Property 94.3 18.0 36.4 6.1 

Life assurance policies (27.8) (5.3) (44.9) (7.5) 

Cash deposits (181.3) (34.7) 176.5 29.7 

Stockbroker balances 1.2 0.2 17.8 3.0 

523.2 1 uu.o 594.8 100.0 

An analysis of the net new investment in securities for the year to 31 March 2002, along with 

comparative figures for the preceding year, is set out in the table below: 

2002 2001 

£m % £m % 

UK Equities 491.0 77.1 97.9 23.9 

Overseas Equities 58.7 9.2 299.4 73.2 

Index-linked 55.8 8.7 52.9 12.9 

UK Fixed Interest 48.8 7.7 61.2 15.0 

Overseas Fixed Interest (17.5) (2.7) (102.4) (25.0) 

636.8 100.0 409.0 100.0 
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INVESTMENT IN LIFE ASSURANCE POLICIES 

A small proportion of the fund continued to be held during the year in the form of life assurance 

policies which were assigned to it in respect of former FSSU members. All the policies were 

held with the Equitable Life Assurance Society (ELAS). The distribution of the assets deemed 

attributable to USS policies as at 31 March 2002, along with the comparative figures for the 

preceding year, is set out below: 

2002 2001 

£m % £m % 

UK Equities 40.3 22.0 81.0 38.2 

Overseas Equities 12.7 6.9 28.3 13.3 

Index-linked 2.0 1.0 

Fixed Interest 92.0 50.1 69.8 32.9 

Property 24.3 13.2 21.5 10.1 

Cash 1-Ll 7.8 9.5 4.5 

183.4 100.0 212.1 100.0 

Further comment on the life assurance policies held with ELAS, ,vhich were surrendered after 

the year end, is included in the report of the management committee. 
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DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS LARGEST EQUITY HOLDINGS 

The portfolio distribution as at 31 M arch 2002, along with the comparative figures for the preceding A list of the fund's largest twenty equity holdings together with the percentage of the fund (excluding 

year, is set out below: life assurance policies) which they represent, is shown below: 

2002 2001 Value 

£m £m % £m £m % 
£m % 

UK fixed interest BP 943.0 4.8 
British Government 

Conventional 322.8 354.5 2 Glaxosmithkline 749.8 3.8 
Index-linked 397.6 281.1 

Other debentures & loan stocks 131.7 141.5 3 Vodafone Group 651.1 3.3 

852.1 4.4 777.1 4.0 4 Astrazeneca 479.2 2.4 

Overseas fixed interest 5 HSBC H oldings 478.3 2.4 
North America 375.5 496.6 

Europe 103.3 65.2 6 Royal Bank of Scotland Group 425.1 2.2 

Japan 44.7 227.0 

Pacific 105.U 98.2 7 Shell Trans & Trading Reg 404.3 2.1 

International 304.7 80.0 
8 Lloyds TSB Group 286.1 1.5 

933.2 4.8 967.0 4.9 
9 Barclays 285.9 1.5 

Total fixed interest 1,785.3 9.2 1,744.1 8.9 
10 Diageo 268.6 1.4 

UK equities 
Resources 1,843.4 1,722.0 11 H BOS 215.4 1.1 

Basic industries 374.0 307.7 

General industries 253.1 280.5 
12 BT Group 187.3 0.9 

Cyclical consumer goods 26.6 60.4 13 CGNU 130.6 0.7 
Non cyclical consumer goods 2,205.2 2,064.6 

Cyclical services 1,733.1 1,780.5 14 Tesco 125.5 0.6 

Non cyclical services 1, 1-Hl.8 1,493.1 

Utilities 389.1 420.3 15 BG Group 123.7 0.6 

Information technology 154.6 346.6 
16 Prudential Pie 

Financials 2,833.6 2,773.2 
117.8 0.6 

Collective investment schemes 298.5 81.9 17 Unilever 113.7 0.6 
Investment funds 13.2 

Derivatives 3.9 18 Centrica 94.7 0.5 

11,252.0 57.4 11,347.9 57.7 19 Rio Tinto 93.8 0.5 

Overseas equities 20 Compass Group 91.1 0.5 
America 1,305.0 1,142.4 

Japan 448.0 597.0 6,265.0 32.0 

Europe 1,611.2 1,751.8 

Pacific 821.6 719.1 

O ther 233.2 149.4 A list of all the fund's holdings along with corporate governance issues is available on our website: 

4,419.0 22.6 4,359.7 22.2 
www.usshq.co.uk 

Total equities 15,671.0 80.0 15,707.6 79.9 Signed on behalf of the investment committee 

Total securities 17,456.3 89.2 17,451.7 88.8 

Property 1,666.9 8.5 1,592.1 8.1 

Cash deposits 485.8 2.4 643.8 3.2 

Stockbroker balances (22.1) (0.1) (23.3) (0.1) 

Total investments 19,586.9 100.0 19,664.3 100.0 AS Bell 

(excluding life assurance policies) Chairman 
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JOINT NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE 

The functions of the joint negotiating committee are to approve amendments to the rules 

proposed by the trustee company, to initiate or consider alterations to the rules and to consider 

any alterations proposed by the advisory committee arising out of the operation of the rules. 

The joint negotiating committee also has powers under the Articles of Association of the trustee 

company and under the scheme rules in connection with the appointment of co-opted directors 

and with the remuneration of directors. 

Mr C Morland replaced Mr B Lillis who resigned on 31 March 201)1. Dr T McKnight 

replaced Mr J W D Trythall with effect from 1 September 2001. Mr Trythall's long and 

valuable contribution to the committee was noted and the committee's appreciation was 

recorded. In January 2002 Mr I G Thompson and Ms P Holloway resigned and were replaced 

by Mr I Crawford and Ms L Barker respectively. 

The committee met on four occasions during the year and rule changes were considered by the 

committee which resulted in two amending deeds being executed, the twenty-fifth and the 

twenty-sixth deeds of amendment. 

• The twenty-fifth deed of amendment gave effect to amendments relating to:

(a) Personal dealing in investments - this empowered the management committee to adopt a code

of conduct in connection with personal dealings by employees and directors ofUSS Ltd; and

(b) the correction of typographical errors in the twenty-first deed of amendment in connection

with the rule governing absence from employment.

• The twenty-sixth deed of amendment gave effect to amendments relating to powers to invest

in property. This change was made so that the trustee company could invest in property

investment partnerships . There was also a change to modernise the definition of "land". The

rule amendment was designed specifically to permit the trustee company to acquire land

through an investment limited partnership and to transfer any existing scheme property

investments regarded as appropriate for this purpose into such a partnership.

Signed on behalf of the joint negotiating committee 

Sir Kenneth Berrill 

Cl1<1ir111a11 

32 

U N I V E ll ', I T I E ', '> U I' E ll A N '.'J U A T I ll N , C H E M � 

COMMITTEE R EPORT S 

ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

The functions of the advisory committee are to advise the trustee company on the exercise of 

its powers and discretions (other than those relating to investment matters), on difficulties in the 

implementation or application of the rules and on any complaints received from members or 

participating institutions, and any other matters on which the trustee company requires advice. 

Four meetings were held during the year. Ms J cAdoo fulfilled the role of chairperson 

throughout the year. Ms J de Groot replaced Mr R Brown and Mr A Carr replaced Mr C 

Banister on the committee. 

The majority of questions raised on the application or interpretation of the rules of USS were 

dealt with by the senior officers. The remainder, in which the circumstances did not fall clearly 

within the trustee company's guidelines and which required detailed consideration by the 

advisory committee during the year comprised: 

• one case relating to the continuation of an eligible child's pension;

• three cases relating to applications for ill-health retirement where the application had been

turned down by the trustee company and appeals were made against these rejections;

• one case relating to the distribution of a lump sum death benefit after the death of a member;

• one case relating to the full commutation of a member's pension due to serious ill-health; and

• two cases relating to the payment of a dependant' pension on the death of a member.

It was necessary for the committee, enlarged by two members of the management committee, 

to meet on four occasions during the year to consider the dt·cisions given by the chief pensions 

manager at stage one of the internal dispute resolution procedure. These second stage considerations: 

(a) upheld the previous decision in three case�; and

(b) resulted in a recommendation being accepted by the management committee to grant an award

in two cases and to approve an ill-health retirement in a third case.

Signed on behalf of the advisory committee 

MsJ McAdoo 

Cliairpcrso11 
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STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES 

Introduction 

The Pensions Act 1995 require, trustees to prepare and keep up-to-date a written ,tatement 

recording the investment policy of the scheme. The purpose of this document is not only to 

satisfy the requirements of the Act but also to outline the broad investment principles governing 

the investment policy of the scheme. 

The statement ha, been agreed by the management committee of Universities Superannuation 

Scheme (USS) on written advice from the investment committee. a sub-committee of the 

management committee, and the scheme actuary following consultation with the participating 

employers or their appointed representatives. 

The management committee re\·iews the statement at least every three year� in the light of each 

triennial acmarial valuation. The investment committee monitors compliance \Vith this 

statement at least annually and obtains confirm.irion from the investment managers th.it they 

have exercised their powers of investment with a view to giving effect to the principles 

contained herein as far as reasonably practicabk. 

The investment committee of the management committee is established under the article, of 

association of the trustee company. Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited (USS Ltd), and 

under the rules of the scheme to advise the trustee company on all questions relating to the 

investment of the assets of the fund. It consists of between three and eight people of whom at 

least one must be a member of the management committee and not more than five shall be 

persons other than directors \vhom the management committee may decide to appoint because 

they have spcci,11 skills or are able to give competent ,1dvice to the trmtee company on the policy 

to be adopted from time to time for investment of the fund. 

The management committee, as the governing body of the trustee comp,my, retains the overall 

power of investment in relation to the fond but may from time to time delegate to the investment 

committee on such terms as it may impose the power of the trustee company to decide the 

investment policy of the fond. The investment committee is required to notif\ to the management 

committee its decisions concerning the investment policy of the fond. Any changes in the 

investment policy will be notified to the management committee on a quarterly basis. 

Investment objective 

The trustee's duty is to act in the best financial interests of all classes of scheme member and 

accordingly to ensure that the assets are invested to secure the benefits under the scheme. The 

managers are therefore instructed to give primary con ideration to the financial prospects of any 

investment they hold or consider holding. 

The fond's investment objective is to meet its investment performance target. This objective is 

consistent with the scheme ·s relative inunaturity and with fonding the scheme's benefits at the 

lowest cost over the long term, having regard to the minimum fimding requirement of the 

Pensions Act 1995 and having regard to the attitude of the Committee of Vice-Chancellors and 

Principals and of the management committee towards the risk of higher contributions at some 

time in the future. At the last triennial valuation as at 31 March 1999 the scheme\ funding level 

exceeded its minimum fonding requirement level. The aim is to seek to maintain an adequate 

fonding cushion so that the risk of deterioration of the MFR ratio to belov,: 1 OO'Y.'i is at an 

acceptable level. 
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The investment performance target for the total fond is to exceed the -Wth percentile of the 

WM50 (the largest pension funds in the WM universe) cum property universe over rolling five­

year periods. 

The investment performance target for direct property investments is to exceed the weighted 

average return of a customised Investment Property Data bank (IPD) universe of the largest 1 ()() 

comparable property funds by 0.511'11 pa over rolling five-year periods. 

Inn•stment manager structure 

The securities investments of the fund are currently managed by a number of discretionary
balanced managers and one index tracking manager. The reason for using a number of different
managers is to spread the investment risk of the scheme. The management structure is subject
to review by the investment committee and the management committee.

The investment performance target for each of the balanced managers is to exceed the -Wth 

percentile of the WM50 ex property universe over rolling five-year periods. 

The objective of the index tracking fund is to match the return on the FT-SE-A All-Share 

Index. This fond is managed by the internal manager acting on the advice of HSBC James Capel 

Quantitative Techniques. 

At 31 March 20 0() the securities assets of the fund were allocated between the managers in an 

approximate ratio of: 

Internally managed balanced fund 47 

Index tracking fund 28 

Externally managed balanced funds 25 

This ratio will fluctuate due to stock market movements and cash allocation. 

Cash flow is normally allocated between the managers as follows: 

(a) 25'Y.1 to the index tracking manager;

(b) 2Wo to the external managers, and

( c) 55'.h, to the internal manager in respect of both securities and direct investment in property.

The allocation of cash is reviewed and approved by the inve,tment committee on a quarterly basis. 

Investment strategy and asset mix 

l nvestment policy is determined by the belief that over the longer term equity investment will 

provide superior returns co other investment classes. The management structure and targets set 

are designed to create a bias so that the USS fund has a greater than average weighting in UK 

equities compared to its peer group. This is achieved by retaining the FT-SE-A All-Share Index 

tracking fund as a discrete fund and by the targets which have been set for the balanced 

managers. Thus, the fond has a relatively high exposure to equities through ,l geographically and 

industrially diversified portfolio. 

The investment committee sets guidelines for asset allocation for the combined fund within 

which the investment managers, taken as a whole, are required to operate. These guidelines are 

reviewed quarterly by the investment committee. The guidelines set for asset allocation between 

different investment classes are consistent with the investment committee's views on the 

appropriate balance between risk and return and have due regard to the long term liabilities of 

the scheme. 
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The balanced investment managers are aware of their investment objective and set their 

individual investment strategy to meet that objective within the overall fond guidelines imposed. 

The monitoring guideline at 31 March '.WOO was : 

'Y<, 

UK equities 60 

Overseas equities 24 

Index linked gilts 1 

Bonds 6 

Property 7 

Cash 2 

If there are significant departures from the asset distribution recommended each quarter by the 

investment conm1icree, the investment specialists on the investment committee will be notified. 

In this way market movements and asset allocation shifts are monitored and any desired changes 

are approved by the chairman of the investment committee after consultation \Vith the 

investment specialists. 

The total investment in each broad asset class is determined by the fond's investment managers 

under their delegated authorities within the above monitoring guidelines set by the investment 

committee after consideration of the minimum funding requirements of the Pensions Act 1995, 

long term funding solvency and investment management risk. No more than 4% of the total 

fond by market value can be invested in one company except for very large UK companies in 

which managers are allowed a maximum overweight position of 50% of the FT-SE-A All-Share 

Index weighting with an overall cap of 1 ()"/,, of their part of the fond. No more than 10% of the 

market capitalisation of any one company (excluding collective investment schemes and companies 

established by the trustee company to aid the efficient administration offund investments subject 

to appropri.ite controls) may be held without prior authority from the chairman of the 

investment committee. In both cases , the constraints apply as at the date of purchase. 

Managers may not, as a rule, invest in securities not quoted on a recognised or designated 

investment exchange. Investment in unquoted securities requires the approval of the chairman 

of the investment committee. 

Addition.ii ,ml't, 

The fond continues to hold life assurance policies with the Equitable Life Assurance Society 

(ELAS) assigned to it in respect of former FSSU members. The value of policies held as at 31 

December 1999 was less than 1.5110 of the fond. It is the intention of the trustee to convert these 

policies to a managed fund and ultimately to bring the assets under the investment control of 

the discretionary balanced managers within a timescale agreed by ELAS. 

Additional voluntary contributions from members to purchase additional benefits on a money 

purchase basis are invested separately and managed and administered externally. The appointment 

of AVC providers is subject to review by the management committee. 

Monitoring performance 

The performance of the fund and of each investment manager is measured quarterly by the WM 

Company against the relevant targets. The performance of the investment managers and the 

fund is reported quarterly to the investment committee. 

The performance of the property portfolio is also separately measured against the customised 
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IPD universe. The IPD performance data is incorporated within the WMSO data for measurement 

of the performance of the whole fond. 

The internal auditor and chief investment otticer visit the external investment managers to 

check the quality and effectiveness of procedures on a regular basis. The internal auditor monitors 

the internal manager to check the quality and effectiveness of procedure, on a regular basis. 

Len·! of ,chem�· maturitv 

An exercise carried out in conjunction with the actuary in 1995 confirmed the trustee's view 

of the scheme's relative immaturity and thi, is kept under review by the trustee company. 

The scheme is cash flow positive and does not need to realise investments to meet liabilities. 

Stock lending 

The trustee company is authorised by the scheme rules to participate in stock lending and has done
so since 1998. It has concluded that the risks associated with ,rock lending in .tccordance with those
lending programmes in which it participate,, which incorporate a high level of risk mitigation,
are not intrinsically different fi:om those of other market operations and are justified in the light
of the return to the scheme in terms of the annual stock lending fees capable of generation.

A ny stock lending programme in which the fund participates must provide for all loans to be 

folly pre-collateralized and be approved by the investment committee on legal advice. 

Corpor,ltL' gm·n11.1nce 

The proper corporate governance of companies in which the fond in\"t:sts is of importance to
USS Ltd. The trustee has adopted the recommendations set out in the Combined Code appended
to the London Stock Exchange Listing Rule,. Votes are cast where appropriate on the basis of
these recommendations on resolutions at the general meetings of all UK companies and where
appropriate at the general meetings of all overseas companies in which the fund has investment,.

Soci.illy re,pomibk i11n·m11e11t 

The trustee company pay s regard to social, ethical and environmental considerations in the
,election. retention and realisation of ti.md investmetlt', to the extent that it is comistent with its
legal duties to do so. To this end, having consulted with the participating employers, it has
adopted a policy of active engagement with those companies in which the fund is invested
concerning the ethical, environmental and social policies pursued by tho,e companies. The 

trustee company will accordingly aim to use its influence as a major institutional investor to
promote within those companies those policies which will meet best practice in those areas. The
trustee company pursues this policy with a view to protecting and enhancing the value of the
fund's investments in those companies. 

Further information on the company 's stance on socially responsible investment is published 

from time to time. 

I )ni,·,ui,·e, 

Each of the discretionary balanced managers is permitted to use derivatives ,,·ithin limitations 

specified by the investment committee. The current limit is 5% of funds under their management
and the use of derivatives is to be solely for the efficient m.in.igement of the portfolio.

U nderwriti1w "' 
The balanced managers are permitted to underwrite issues provided they are prepared to hold
all the stock which they under\\'rite. 
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MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS 

ThL' numbl'r of memht'r, m thl' \dWlllL' .rnd tlw m1111hn rcn.'tYmg pcmwn .md .mnu1ty hL·11d1t, .It the end of thL' \ L".1r arL' .1, fnlhm ,: fhe numl1l:'r ot llll'llllwr, m the ,dwme .md the 11umber ren·1v111g pem1011 .md .mntut� benefit, .n the end of the vear .ue •1, fi.Jllm,Y 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS cnnti11ul'd 

MEMBERS PENSIONERS MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Spoust·,. Spouse,. 
J)qwnd.mts Dependants 

Pen"ioner .rnd I kpcndcnt Pen"ioner and I kpcndcnt 
No. Name Member, Childrc•n No. Name Members Children 

0100 Aberdeen 1,525 487 117 1240 Peterhouse 16 2 
---

- --

41()() Aston 483 326 104 1242 Queens ' 13 2 

4300 Bath 1,076 324 56 1245 Robinson 17 6 

66()() Belfast 1, 809 503 118 1246 St Catharine's 'Y) 3 
- --

1()()() Birmingham 2,342 968 183 1255 St Edmund's 3 

420() Bradford 837 382 87 1250 St John's 43 5 

111 H l Bristol 2,325 597 126 1252 Selwyn 13 

4400 Brunel 679 272 53 1254 Sidney Sussex 13 

7035 Buckingham 83 36 5 1258 Trinity 49 10 5 

1200 Cambridge (Univer,iry) 4,210 852 259 1260 Trinity Hall 17 3 2 

1202 Christ\ 21 4 3 1268 Wolt�on 11 2 

1204 Churchill 41 8 47()() City 935 311 83 

12()6 Clare 13 4 7016 Cranfield 913 375 87 
---

12()8 Clare Hall 7 0700 Dundee 1. 409 327 65 

1210 Corpus Christi 14 5 2 13()() Durham (University) 1,352 3% 71 

1212 Darwin 5 3 1301 St Chad's 

1214 Downing 17 9 3 1302 St John's 
------

1216 Emmanuel 19 3 1500 East Anglia 1,077 301 46 

1218 Fitzwilliam 9 4 2 1)200 Edinburgh 3, 115 854 222 
---- -

1220 Girton 32 9 3 1700 Essex 750 164 43 

1222 Gonville & Caius 36 10 4 1 WO Exeter 1,011 419 8() 

1224 Hughes Hall 2 0300 Glasgow 2,677 766 157 

1226 Jesus 17 4 3 08( )() Heriot-Watt 815 214 35 
- -- ---

1228 King's 21 9 1800 Hull 940 390 96 

1230 Lucy Cavendish 29 5 3100 Keele 667 219 43 

1232 Magdalrne 13 5 2 1 900 Kent at Canterbury 835 299 46 

1234 New Hall ·y 
_'.) 8 2100 Lancaster 989 324 67 

1236 Newnham 30 17 3 2000 Leeds 2,936 920 215 

1238 Pembroke 36 4 2 220() Leicester 1.348 325 68 
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MEMBERSHIP STA TISTICS MEMBERSHIP STAT IST ICS 

I he numlwr ofllll'lllhl'r, in the ,chl'ml' .rnd thL mtmhl'r ren:1nng pL'mwn ,lllli .rnnuny benefit, dt rl1L' l'nd ufthe ye.1r are a, fr1llm\,: rhe number of lllL'mher, m the ,chemL' .md the number rece1nng pem1on ,rnd ,lllllmt� bern:fic, ,It the end ot the ye,ir are a, folio\\,: 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS rnntinul'd UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS rnntinul'd 
MEMBERS PENSIONERS MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Spouses, Spouses, 
Dependants Depend.rnts 

Pensioner and Dependent Pensioner and Dependent 
No. Name Members Children No. Name Members Children 

230() Liverpool 1,974 612 155 2702 Balliol 27 3 

2497 London (University) 502 573 169 2703 Brasenose 16 4 3 

24()8 Birk beck 527 133 27 2704 Christ Church 55 6 
- -- ----

2401 Goldsmiths' College 489 108 8 2705 Corpus Christi 16 7 2 

248() Heythrop 13 4 2706 Exeter 20 3 4 

2409 Imperial Coll of Science, Technology & Medicine 2,963 840 208 2707 Hertford 22 3 

2440 I nstitute of Cancer Research 209 18 2708 Jesus 21 5 

2465 I nstitute of Child Health (part of University College) 217 12 4 2709 Keble 26 5 

2403 Institute of Education 355 179 42 2710 Lady Margaret Hall 17 6 

2474 Institute of Psychiatry (part of King's College) 7 12 6 2734 Linacre 3 3 

2410 King's College London 2,563 756 179 2711 Lincoln 17 5 2 
-----

2412 London School of Economics & Political Science 789 183 51 2712 Magdalen 32 11 3 

2434 London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine 478 77 31 2735 Harris Manchester 12 3 
---- -

2413 Queen Mary & Westfield College 1, 181 514 106 2732 Mansfield 31 4 
---

2447 Royal Holloway and Bedford New College 631 234 39 2713 Merton 27 8 2 

2436 Royal Veterinary College 187 51 17 2714 New College 39 9 5 

2428 St George's Hospital Medical School 416 62 17 2715 Nuffield 39 1 o 2 

2415 School of Oriental & African Studies 384 166 42 2716 Oriel 24 9 

2416 School of Pharmacy <) 1 31 6 2717 Pembroke 11 5 4 

2417 University College 3,515 885 169 2718 Queen's 25 7 

2484 London Business School 224 32 10 2736 Regent's Park 3 
---

4600 Loughborough 1,228 380 108 2719 St Anne's 29 8 

2500 Manchester 3,0<J4 1,035 228 2720 St Antony's 17 8 

5100 UMIST 1,087 394 78 2721 St Catherine's '")'") 9 

1400 Newcastle-upon-Tyne 2,014 642 153 2722 St Edmund Hall 7 

2600 Nottingham 2,524 577 132 2723 St Hilda's 26 9 

8900 Open 2,548 505 103 2724 St Hugh's 23 8 

2700 Oxford (University) 3,410 953 295 2725 St John's 40 8 

2701 All Souls 32 1 () 4 2726 St Peter's 20 2 2 
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UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS cnnti11m·d 
MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

Pensioner and Dependent 
No. Name Members Children 

2727 Somerville 13 9 

7028 Templeton 27 15 

2728 Trinity 7 3 

2729 University 22 8 

2730 Wad ham 15 6 2 

2733 Wolfson 17 5 

2731 Worcester 19 8 

28()() Reading 1,514 476 126 

0400 St Andrews 731 ')')-
__ ::, 54 

4800 Salford 886 477 81 

29()() Sheffield 2,409 651 129 

3000 Southampton 2,382 565 112 

051)0 Stirling 759 183 39 
-- ---

I 1600 Strathclyde 1,549 506 142 

40()() Surrey 1, 184 367 63 

3200 Sussex 947 368 64 

68()() Ulster 1,452 318 78 

3900 Wales (University) 58 23 4 

33(H) Abery�rwyth 61 O 282 62 

3400 Bangor 734 292 66 

3500 College of Cardiff 1,740 566 150 

3800 Lampeter 115 4-2 9 

36()() Swansea 1,002 325 88 

370() University of Wales College of Medicine 551 113 30 

500() Warwick 1,507 324 62 

520() York 1.1 <)I) 225 47 

Old university institutions total 93,499 28,029 6,419 

L: I V E ll \ I I I E \ '> U I' � I� A N N U A l I O N \ C H E �1 l 
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fhe numlwr of 1111 . .'!llbt·r, 111 thl' ,d11..·1111..· .rnd dtL' mm1hi:r n:n,·1, Ill!,! rt·n,1011 J.nd .mm11t, b1,.·1H.'tlb .\t thl' t'lld of rhl' n:.1r .m.: .1, folhm, 

UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS rnntinuL·d 
MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Spou,t's, 
Dependants 

Pl.'.'t1"iio11cr ,111d I kpendent 
No. Name Members Children 

New universities admitted for 
limited membership only 

--

816() Abertay 3 

810 0  Bournemouth 4 

8()8() Brighton 15 

8150 Central Lancashire 6 

8110 Coventry ')-
_::, 

8()6() De Montfort 13 
- -- -- -

8010 Glamorgan 

8210 Greenwich 

8040 Hertfordshire 2 

805(1 Huddersfield 
----

8170 Kingston 

81 <)() Lincolnshire & Humberside 2 

8140 Manchester Metropolitan 12 

8240 North London 2 

8()<)() Nottingham Trent IS 

8120 Oxford Brookes 

8070 Plymouth 16 

8220 Sheffield Hallam 

8()2() South Bank 28 3 

8030 Thames Valley 2 

8\8() niH'Viity of Wales Institute, Cardiff 2 

8130 Westminster 

New university institutions total 179 8 

All university institutions total 93,678 28,037 6,419 
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The number of nwmbcr, 111 thl' ,chl'nw .rnd the number recervmg; pemton .md annuity benefit, .1t the end of the yeJr are ,l� follow,: The number of member, 111 thl' ,chem'-· .1.nd the number rece1vmg pem10n Jnd annmty benefit, .1t the end of the yc.1r Jn: .1, follmv,: 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS rontinul'd 

MEMBERS PENSIONERS MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Spouses, Spouses, 
Dependants Dependants 

Pensioner and Dependent Pensioner and Dependent 

No. Name Members Children No. Name Members Children 

7113 Aberdeen Univ Research & Ind Services Ltd 1 7100 Company of Biologists Ltd 

7010 Animal Health Trust 41 5 7110 Council for British Research in the Levant 3 

7040 Arthritis Research Campaign 2 7098 Culham College Inst for Church Related Education 

7190 Ashridge (Boner Law Memorial) Trust 2 7145 Dartington Hall Trust 8 

7178 Assessment and Qualifications Alliance 36 26 7 7055 East Grinstead Med Research Trust (Blond Lab, Ltd) 4 

7011 Association of Commonwealth Universities 30 32 8 7159 Edexcel Foundarion 29 21 

7067 Beatson Institute for Cancer Research 45 3 7164 Edinburgh Business School 13 

7084 BLCMP (Library Services) Ltd 2 4 7032 Edinburgh University Students' Association 72 4 

7037 Brewing Research International 37 13 2 7182 EDUSERV 33 

,I 7206 Bristol, Clifton and West of England Zoological Society 7089 Ewing Foundation 2 

7012 British Glass Manufacturers· Confederation 8 7175 Freshwater Biological Association 5 
---

7030 British Institute in Eastern Africa 2 7051 FSSU Secretariat 

7()91 British Institute of Archaeology at Ankara 2 7041 Geographical Association 4 2 

7112 British Institute of International & Comp Law 2 7152 Gray Laboratory 29 2 

7097 British Psychological Society 2 2 7148 Gyosei International College in the UK 27 

7087 British School at Athens 3 7025 Henley Management College 58 33 3 

7092 Uritish School at Rome 4 7157 Higher Education Careers Service Unit 6 4 

7033 British School of Archaeology in Iraq 7176 HEFCE 
---

7050 British Universities Sports Association 7186 Higher Education South East 2 

7133 Brunel Institute of Organisation & Social Studies 7135 Higher Education Statistics Agency Ltd 17 2 

7122 Burden Neurological Institute 7 7053 History of Parliament Trust 25 5 

7116 Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre 35 3 7143 Homerton College 8 3 

7060 Cancer Research UK 6 9 7170 Hull University Union 6 

7153 CASE 2 7079 Institute of Community Studies 10 6 

7197 Centre for Migration Studies 7017 Institute of Development Studies 93 33 4 

7015 College of Estate Management 21 19 11 7056 Institute of Food Science & Technology 2 

7191 Connect -The Communications Disability Network 5 7029 Institute for Employment Studies ·-t orJrr 6 9 

7188 Cranfield Aerospace Limited 10 7124 International Institute of Biotechnology 

7121 Universities UK tcrW 36 7 7200 International Research Foundation for Open Learning 
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NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 
MEMBERS PENSIONERS 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

Pensioner "rnd I )ependent 
No. Name Members Children 

7132 International Society (Manchester) 
7149 International Students House 3 

7054 Joint Library of Hellenic & Roman Societies 
7147 JNT Association 31 5 

v 7066 Journal of Endocrinology Ltd \/'
' .· 

\/ 
.· 7189 Kelvin Nanotechnology 

7192 King Alfred's College of Higher Education, Winchester 
7177 Learning from Experience Trust 2 
2482 Lister Institute of Preventive Medicine 5 4 

7171 London Institute 
7168 London Mathematical Society 
7179 London School ofJewish Studies 3 

7117 Ludwig Inst for Cancer Research -Middlesex Branch 26 

7039 Ludwig Inst for Cancer Research -St Mary's Branch 10 3 

709() Marie Curie Cancer Care 39 2 5 

7125 Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 31 

70% Modern Humanities Research Association 5 

7094 Motor Industry Research Association 53 39 7 

7114 Nat Collections of Ind & Marine Bacteria Ltd 3 

7018 National Inst of Economic & Social Research 15 8 3 ...

7080 Norfolk Agricultural Station (Morley Res Centre) 9 3 

7073 Northern College for Residential Adult Education 29 4 2 ,,/.
7146 Northern Ireland Council for Postgraduate Med & Dental Educ 5 

7115 Northern Ireland Economic Research Centre 1 o 5 

7048 Numerical Algorithms Group Ltd 50 2 
7155 Nuffield Trust 9 

7183 NYU in London 4 

7058 Open University Worldwide 23 4 

7023 Overseas Development Institute 44 6 
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NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

No. 

7174 

7118 

7031 

7163 

7104 

7075 

7139 

7134 

7162 

7052 

7203 

7123 
7185 

7160 

7081 

7181 

71)2()

7021 

7082 

7077 

7158 

7064 

7070 

7022 
7105 

7130 

7169 

7196 

7199 

MEMBERS 

Name 

Oxford Cambridge & RSA Examinations 160 

Oxford Centre for Islamic Studies 
� - -Z-- __:3__ Oxford Centre for Hebrew & Jewi�h Studies /£,- • 12

Oxford Policy Institute 
Pain Relief Foundation 2 
Policy Studies Institute 23 

Engineering Development Trust < 18 

The Prince's Foundation 'Z_ 3 

Quality Assurance Agency 35 

Reading University Students' Union 
Regional Studies Association 
Richmond College 34 
- -- -

Royal Academy of Dancing 
Royal Academy of Music 3 

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 2 
Royal College of Music 
Royal College of Surgeons of England 104 

Royal Geographical Society 4 

Royal Institute of International Affairs 
� 

3 

Royal Institution (j 17 

Royal Northern College of Music 3 

Royal Society 
Royal Society of Edinburgh 2 
Ruskin College 41 

School Mathematics Project 4 

Scottish Association for Marine Science 38 

Society of Antiquaries of London 10 

Sheffield University Enterprises Ltd 3 

Smith Institute 
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- - --2 

11 3 

6 

2 
8 3 

- ----

---
28 10 

3 

6 

2 
15 7 

2 
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The number of memhn, Ill the ,cheme .llld till' numbi.:r n.�l.L'J\"111g pl'm1on .rnd Jimmty bL'Bl'fit, .1t the l'nd of thl' yeJr .. m .. · ,1, follmn: 

NON-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONS continued 

No. Name 

7131 Southern Universities Management Services 

718() Standing Conference of Principals Ltd 

7042 Strangeways Research Laboratory 

7049 Students' Union University of Leicester 

7138 T hrombosis Research Institute 

711)9 Trade Union Research Unit Ltd

7141 TUI REG 

7173 Trinity College of Music 

7106 Universities and Colleges Admissions Service 

7166 UMIST Ventures Ltd 

7150 Universities and Colleges Employers Association 

7151 HESDA l 

7194 University College Northampton 

7184 University Council for the Education of Teachers 

7198 University of Cambridge Challenge Fund 

7140 University of Leeds Innovations Ltd 

9999 USS Ltd 

7065 Wildfowl & Wetlands Trust 

7142 WP Management Ltd 

7195 YHUA Ltd 

7027 York Archaeological Trust 

7076 Zoological Society of London 

Withdrawn institutions 

Non-university institutions total 

All institutions total 

MEMBERS 

9 

4 

5 

18 

40 

24 

5 

6 

6 

3 

1 

122 

2 

2 

31 

2,015 

95,693* 

PENSIONERS 

Pensioner 
Members 

3 

8 

2 

2 

11 

5 

22 

8 

11 

43 

571 

28,608 

Spouses, 
Dependants 

and Dependent 
Children 

2 

4 

4 

5 

115 

6,534 

*Included in this figure (but counted once only) are 1, 153 members who have more than one appointment.
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I he munber of llH.'ll!bLT\ 1t1 the ,chet11L' ,rnJ the numhn rcceinng pem1m1 .md .mnu1ty benefit, Jt the end of the yeJr ,:m.' ,1, follm\·,: 

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENTS during the ye,1r rndl'd 31 March 211112 

University Non-University 
Members Institutions Institutions Totals 

Total members at 1 April 2001 89,433 1,828 91,261 
New members 17,462 396 17,858 

Retirements - Ill-health 44 44 
- Other 1,758 36 1,794 

Deaths 116 2 118 
Leavers and withdrawals -Refimds 1,765 34 1,799 

- Deferred/undecided 8,279 134 8,413 

-Retrospective* 1,255 3 1,258 

Total members at 31 March 2002 93,678 2,015 95,693 

*Retrospective withdrawals are membns who withdrew from USS within three months of the date of joining the·

scheme with retrospective effect to the date of commencing employment at a USS institution.

In addition USS Ltd was notified during the year of 3,539 employees who became eligible to 

join the scheme but who elected not to do so. 

University Non-University 
Pensioner Members Institutions Institutions Totals 

Total pensioners at 1 April 2001 26,402 558 26,960 
New pensioners 2,216 27 2,243 

Deaths (581) (14) (595) 

Total pensioners at 31 March 2002 28,037 571 28,608 

In addition at 31 March 2()( )2, there were 5, 764 pensions being paid to spouses and dependants 

and 770 annuities being paid to dependent children. Deferred pensioners not yet receiving a 

pension totalled 49,481. 
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FUND ACCOUNT for the ye.ir rnded 31 M.1rch 21Hl2 

Contributions and Benefits 

Contributions receivable 

Premature retirement scheme receipts 

Transfers in 

Benefits payable 

Payment on account of leavers 

Administration costs 

Net additions from dealings with members 

Returns on investments 

Investment income 

Change in market value of investments 

lnvestn1ent management expenses 

Net returns on investments 

Net decrease in the fund during the year 

Fund at start of year 

Fund at end of year 

50 

Note 

3 

5 

6 

7 

8 
9 

10 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

611.4 564.5 

38.2 34.9 

106.1 92.5 

755.7 691.9 

610.3 537.6 

55.9 27.8 

5.8 6.3 

672.0 571.7 

83.7 120.2 

478.9 522.4 

(629.3) (2,561. 9) 

(15.5) (15.6) 

(165.9) (2,055.1) 

(82.2) (1,934.9) 

20,038.2 21,973.1 

19,95(1.0 20,038.2 

UNIVER,ITIE ,UPERANNU.�TIUN \l' HE.\\E 

USS ACCOUNTS 

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS .is at 31 March 2002 

Investments 

Securities 

Property 

Life assurance policies 

Cash deposits 

Stockbroker balances 

Net current assets 

Total net assets, representing the fund balance 

Note 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

17,456.3 17,451.7 

1,666.9 1.592.1 
183.4 212.1 
485.8 643.8 
(22.1) (23.3) 

19,770.3 19,876.4 

185.7 161.8 

1 9,956.0 20,038.2 

The financial statements on pages 50 to 57 and the statement of trustee's responsibilities on page 

58 were approved by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited, on 24 July 2002 

and were signed on its behalf by: 

G J Davies 

Chaim1<111 

I) 13 Chynoweth
Chic( Excc11til'C
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 M.irch 2002 

1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Occupational Pension 

Schemes (Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement from the Auditor) 

Regulations 1996 and with the guidelines set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice 

(SORP) "Financial Reports of Pension Schemes" except that transactions and fund values in 

respect of money purchase AV Cs have not been disclosed in the fund account and the net assets 

statement on the grounds that the amounts involved are not material. However, details ofAVC 

transactions are included in note 3 to the financial statements. 

The financial statements summarise the transactions of the scheme and deal with the net assets 

at the disposal of the trustees. They do not take account of obligations to pay pensions and 

benefits which fall due after the end of the scheme year. The actuarial position of the scheme, 

which does take account of such obligations, is dealt with in the statements by the actuary on 

pages 61 to 63 and these financial statements should be read in conjunction with it. 

2. Accounting Policie,

A summary of the significant accounting policies which have been applied consistently by the 

scheme is set out below. 

Contributions 

Contributions represent the amounts returned by the participating institutions as being those 

due to the scheme in respect of the year of account. The responsibility for ensuring the accuracy 

of contributions rests with institutions which, under the terms of the trust deed regulating USS, 

are ultimately responsible for ensuring the solvency of the scheme. Receipts under the 

premature retirement scheme are accounted for in the period in which they fall due. 

Investment income 

Investment income is brought into account on the following bases: 

(a) Dividends, tax and interest from quoted and unquoted securities, on the date that the scheme

becomes entitled to the income;

(b) Interest on cash deposits, as it accrues;

(c) Property rental income, as it accrues;

(d) Interest on advances for property developments, which is credited to the fund account and

forms part of the cost of the relevant development, as it accrues until the earlier of the

development becoming a completed property or the contracted purchase price being reached.

Property 

A completed property is one that has received an architect's certificate of practical completion 

and which is either substantially let or, although not substantially let, is neither within the period 

of contractors' defects nor is expected to be the subject of further building works. Developments 

in progress include any property which is not a completed property. 

Life assurance policies 

Policy proceeds and premiums paid are not treated as income and outgoings but are accounted 

for within the value at which the life assurance policies are included in the statement of net assets. 
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Rates of exchange 

Assets and liabilities denominated in overseas currencies are translated into sterling at the rates 

of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and any exchange movements on translation are 

included in the fund account. 

Net transfers 

Transfers to and from the fund are accounted for on the basis of amounts received and paid 

during the year. 

Investments 

Investments are included in the statement of net assets at current value at the year end. 

The current values are as follows: 

(a) Quoted securities

(b) Property

(c) Life assurance policies

at closing prices; these prices may be last trade prices 

or mid market prices depending on the convention of 

the stock exchange on which they are quoted; 

on the basis of open market value; 

at the amount disclosed by an annual actuarial valuation. 

Changes in current values are shown as movements in the fund account in the year in which 

they arise. 

3. Contributions

Main section 

Employers' contributions 

Members' basic contributions 

Members' additional voluntary contriburions 

Supplementary section 

Members' contributions 

2002 

£m 

408.4 

174.9 

17.9 

601.2 

10.2 

611.4 

2001 

£m 

377.5 

161.7 

15.9 

555.1 

9.4 

564.5 

Additional voluntary contributions referred to above represent contributions made to purchase 

additional pensionable service under the rules of the scheme. 

Money purchase additional voluntary contributions 

A money purchase additional voluntary contribution facility is administered by the Prudential 

Assurance Company Limited. 

Individual members' contributions are deducted from their salaries and paid direct to the 

Prudential by the institutions. The contributions are invested through the Prudential on behalf of 

the individuals concerned to provide additional benefits within the overall limits laid down by 

the Inland Revenue. The contributions paid and the investments purchased are not included in 

the accounts. 
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The value of the accumulated additional voluntary contributions at the end of the year together 

with a summary of the movements during the year is as follows: 

Value at the start of the year 

Contributions from members 

Transfers in 

Income from interest and bonuses 

Payouts to members 

Administration expenses 

Value at the end of the year 

4. Transfers in

Individual transfers in 

Group transfers in 

5. Benefits payable

Main section 

Pensions 

Lump sums on or after retirement 

Lump sums on death in service 

Supplementary section 

Pensions 

Lump sums on or after retirement 

Lump sums on death in service 

(1. Payments on account of lea\·ers 

Individual transfers to other schemes 

Payments for members joining state scheme 

Refunds to members leaving service 

7. Administration costs

2002 2001 

£m £m 

92.1 68.7 

21.6 21.6 

0.7 0.5 
- '") 
:, __ 4.0 

(4.7) (2.5) 

(0.2) 

114.9 92.1 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

105.2 67.3 

0.9 25.2 

106.1 92.5 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

482.0 440.4 

109 .4 82.8 

12.4 7.9 

603.8 531.1 

6.4 5.9 

0. 1 0.4 

0.2 

6.5 6.5 

ri rn.3 537.6 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

52_7 25.8 

1.4 0.7 

1.8 1.3 

55.9 27.8 

In accordance v,rith the trust deed, the costs of managing and administering the scheme, incurred 

by the trustee company, are chargeable to USS. Details are given in the financial statements of 

the trustee company (Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited: Registered No. 1167127). 
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8. Inn·,tment income

Dividends from UK equities 

Net property income 

Dividends from overseas equities 

Income from UK fixed interest securities 

Income from overseas fixed interest securities 

Income from index-linked securities 

Interest on cash deposits 

Other income 

9. Changes in m,u-ket nlue of investments

The changes in the market value of investments are shown below. 

Securities 

Property 

Life assurance policies 

Cash deposits 

Stockbroker balances 

Market 

value 

2001 

£m 

17.451.7 

1,592.1 

212.1 

643.8 

19,899.7 

(23.3) 

19,876.4 

Purchases Proceeds 

during of sales 

the year during 

at cost the year 

£m £m 

7,126.6 6,489.8 

149.1 54.8 

0.1 27.9 

181.3 

7,275.8 6,753.8 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

235.6 283.7 

92.4 73.4 

59.9 49.9 

25.1 30.5 

35.8 48.6 

8.6 6.7 

19.8 28.6 

1.7 1.0 

478.9 522.4 

Changes 

in value Market 

during value 

the year 2002 

£m £m 

(632.2) 17,456.3 

(19.5) 1,666.9 

(0.9) 183.4 

23.3 485.8 

(629.3) 19,792.4 

(22.1) 

19,770.3 

Ch;lllges in the value of investments comprise both realised gains/ (losses) on investments sold 

during the year and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments held at the year end. 

I 0. h1ve,tment nunagemL'nt expenses 

Investment management expenses comprise all costs directly attributable to the scheme's 

investment activities, including the operating costs of the London Investment Office and the 

costs of management and agency services rendered by third parties. 

I I. Taxation 

UK tax 

USS is an exempt approved scheme under the Income & Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and is 

therefore not normally liable to UK income tax on income from investments directly held nor 

to capital gains tax arising from the disposal of ,uch investments. 

Overseas tax 

Investment income from overseas investments may be subject to deduction of local withholding 

taxes. Where no double taxation agreement exists between the UK and the country in which 

the income arises, the tax suffered is deducted from the income to which it relate,. 

Investment income arising from stocks and securities in the United States of America is exempt 

from US tax under the Internal Revenue Code. 
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Quoted 

UK equities 

Overseas equities 

U N I V E ll '> I I I E '> '> U I' � ll A N N U A T I ( l N '> C H E M E 

US S ACCO UNTS 

UK fixed interest - public sector quoted 

UK fixed interest - other 

Overseas fixed interest - public sector quoted 

Overseas fixed interest - other 

Index-linked 

IJ. Property 

UK completed properties 

UK developments in progress 

Properties analysed by type: 

Freehold 

Leasehold 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

11.252.0 11,347.9 

4,419.0 4,359.7 

322.8 354.5 

131.7 141.5 

830.3 626.1 

W2. 9 340.9 

397.6 281.1 

17,456.3 17,451.7 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

1.411.4 1,321.5 

255.5 270.6 

1,666.9 1,592.1 

1,563.5 1,490.8 

103.4 101.3 

1,666.9 1,592.1 

The completed properties :md developments in progress were valued independently by Colliers 

Conrad Ritblat Erdman, chartered surveyors, as at 31 March 2002 and 31 March 2001. 

1-J.. Life .1ssurance policies

The scheme continues to hold policies with the Equitable Life Assurance Society which were 

assigned to it in respect of former FSSU members, the majority of the policies being "with 

profits". T he basis of valuation is stated in Note 2. 

15. Stockbroker balances

2002 2001 

£m £m 

Amount due to stockbrokers (83.5) (23.3) 

Amount due from stockbrokers 61.4 

(22.1) (23.3) 
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1 (,. Net cu rrcn t asset, 
2002 2001 

£m £m 

Current assets 

Dividends receivable 119.0 118.7 

Contributions due from institutions 66..J. 63.6 

Cash at bank and in hand 25.3 16.9 

Other debtors 8.3 4.8 

Taxation debtor 6.9 

Life assurance policy proceeds due 0.6 

225.9 204.6 

Current liabilities 

Property creditors 16.8 14.9 

Benefits payable 14.2 14.1 

Other creditors 2.9 6.9 

Due to USS Ltd (i.3 6.9 

40.2 42.8 

185.7 161.8 

17. Securities on loan

Securities have been lent to the counterparties in return for fee income earned by the scheme.

Security for these loans is obtained by holding collateral in the form of cash, government bonds 

and lettas of credit. 

Value of stock on loan at 31 March 

Value of collateral held at 31 March 

1 H. Fin,mcial co111111it111ents 

Property 

Contracts pbced but not provided for 

Securities 

Forward commitments for unpaid calls 

on securities and underwriting contracts 

1 9. Self investment 

2002 2001 

£m £m 

1,609.2 

1,649.8 

2002 

£m 

64.5 

5.7 

333.5 

351.4 

2001 

£m 

49.1 

129.0 

The scheme has no employer related investments as at 31 March 2002. Employer related 

investment occurred during the year from the late receipt of contributions due from institutions. 

At any time this was less than 0.020% of the scheme's net assets as at 31 March 2002. 

20. Related p.irty transactions

There .11-e no related party transactions other than transactions between the scheme and its

trustee company. The trustee company provides administration services, the cost of which 

includes directors' emoluments as detailed in note 5 of the trustee company accounts, and 

investment management services to the scheme, charging £5.8 million and ,.( 15.5 million 

respectively, with a balance due from the scheme of £6.3 million .1r 31 March 2002. 
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

The financial statements are the responsibility of the trustee, Universities Superannuation 

Scheme Limited. Pension scheme regulations require the trustee to make available to scheme 

members, beneficiaries and certain other parties, audited financial statements for each scheme 

year which: 

• show a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the scheme during the scheme year

and of the amount and disposition at the end of the scheme year of its assets and liabilities,

other than liabilities to pay pemions and benefits after the end of the scheme year, and

• contain the information specified in the Schedule to the Occupational Pension Schemes

(Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement from the Auditor) Regulations

1996, including a statement whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with the Statement of Recommended Practice "Financial Reports of Pension Schemes".

The trustee has supervised the preparation of the financial statements and has agreed mitable 

accounting policies, to be applied consistently, making any estimates �nd judgements on a 

prudent .111d reasonable basis. 

The trustee is also responsible under pensions legislation for ensuring that there is prepared, 

maintained and from time to time revised a schedule of contributions showing the rates of 

contributions (other than voluntary contributions) payable towards the scheme by or on behalf 

of the employer and the active members of the scheme and the dates on or before which such 

contributions are to be paid. The trustee is also responsible for keeping records of contributions 

received in respect of any active member of the scheme, and for ensuring chat contributions 

are made to the scheme in .1ecordance with the schedule of contributions for the period from 

22 May 2000 and, prior to this date, in accordance with the scheme rules and with the 

recommendations of the actuary. 

The trustee also has a general responsibility for ensuring that adequate accounting records are 

kept and for taking such steps as are reasonably open to it to safeguard the assets of the scheme 

,md to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT to tl1L' trust1:L' of the Uni\"l'rsities Super.mnu.1tio11 Scheme 

We have audited the financial statements that comprise the fond account, the statement of net 

assets and the related notes, which have been prepared under the accounting policie� set out in 

the related notes. 

Re,pective re,ponsibilities of trmtee and auditors 

The trustee's responsibilities for obtaining an annual report, including audited financial statements 

prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards, are set 

out in the .;ratement of trustee's respomibilitie�. The trmtee i� also responsible for ensuring that 

contributions are made to the scheme in accordance \\"ith the schedule of contributions. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial �tatements in accordance with relevant legal and 

regulatory requirements and United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing 

Practices Board. 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true ,md fair view 

and contain the information required by the relevant legislation and our opinion on 

contributions to the scheme. We also report to you i( in our opinion, we have not received all 

the information and explan,1tions we require for our audit. 

We read the other information contained in the annual report .rnd consider the implications for 

our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencie, with 

the financi.11 statements. The other inform.1tion comprises the management statement, the 

summary of financial information for the year, details of the trustee company, all the committee 

reports, the statement of investment principle,, membership ,tafr;tic,, the ,tatements by the 

.1ctuary and the five year rnmmary. 

B.lsi, of audit opinion .md ,tatement about contributions

We conducted our audit in accordance with .n1diting standards issued by the Auditing Pr.1ctice, 

Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an asse,,ment of the significant e,timate, 

and judgements made by or on behalf of the trustee in the prep.ir,1tion of the fo1ancial 

statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the scheme's 

circumstances, consistently applied and :idequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which 

\Ve considered necessary in order to prm·ide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statement, are free from material misstatement, whether camed by 

fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 

adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial ,tatemcnts. 

Our work also included examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts of 

contributions pay.1ble to the scheme and the timing of those payments in order to provide us 

with reasonable assurance chat comributions have been paid in .1Ccordance with the schedule of 

contributions dated 22 May 2000. 

Statement about contributions to the scheme 

Except for the matter of the late receipt of contributions di,closed in the 111:m,1gL'11lent 

committee report, in our opinion, the conrributions payable to the ,cheme during the year 

ended 31 March 2(Hl2 have been paid in accordance with the scheduk of contributions dated 

22 May 2000. 
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( )pinion 

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of 

the Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2002, and of the amount and disposition at that 

date of its assets and liabilities, other than the liabilities to pay pensions and benefits after the end 

of the year, and contain the information specified in Regulation 3 of and the Schedule to the 

Occupational Pension Schemes (Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement 

from the Auditor) Regulations 1996. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 

Liverpool 

29 July 2002 

60 

UNIV�llSITIES SUPERANNUATION SCH�ME 

USS ACCOUNTS 

STATEMENT BY THE ACTUARY ic.)r the year ended 31 M,1rch 2002 

2 

3 

An actuarial valuation of the Universities Superannuation Scheme (the Scheme) was carried out 

as at 31 March 1999 with the results set out in our report dated 23 March 2000. 

The 1999 valuation showed that the scheme was in a healthy financial position. Part of the past 

service surplus was a1located to provide for certain benefit improvements. No change to the 

institutions' contribution rate was proposed which therefore remained at the rate of 14% of 

salaries, subject to review at the next valuation at 31 March 2002. 

On the instructions of the management committee actuarial reviews of the scheme have been 

completed at 31 March 2000 and 31 March 2001. A review was also completed at 30 September 

2001 in the light of the events of 11 September and the general deterioration in equity markets 

during the year. The actuarial reviews compare the experience of the scheme with the 

assumptions made at the 1999 valuation to determine whether the scheme has been progressing 

satisfactorily or whether any deterioration has taken place which might require remedial action. 

4 The results of the 31 March 2001 review showed that the overall funding level of the scheme 

was at a level similar to that revealed at the 1999 valuation. The conclusion from the review as 

at 30 September 2001 was that, although the funding position of the scheme had fallen from its 

level at the last valuation, the scheme nevertheless remained in surplus. 

5 A full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2002 is now underway with results to be reported 

to the management conunittee later this year. Pending the results of the valuation I consider it 

appropriate that the management committee maintain the present rate of contribution. 

Mercer Human Resource Consulting 

June 2002 
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ACTUARIAL STATEMENT m,1de for the purpose, of Regulation I-+ of the Occupational Pemion 

Schemes (Minimum Funding Requirement and Act1uri,1l Valuations) Regulations ] ')')(i. 

Name of scheme: Universities Superannuation Scheme 

Effective date of valuation: 31 March 1999 

1. Compliance \Yith minimum fi.mding requirement

In my opinion, on the effective date the value of the assets of the Scheme exceeds 120'Y., of the 

amount of the liabilities of the Scheme. 

2. Valuation principle,

The Scheme's assets and liabilities are valued in accordance with section 56(3) of the Pensions

Act 1995, the Occupational Pension Schemes (Minimum Funding Requirement and Actuarial 

Valuations) Regulations 19')6 and the mandatory guidelines on minimum funding requirement 

(GN27), prepared and published by the Institute of ctuaries and the Faculty of Actuaries. 

William M Mercer Limited 

Liverpool U 3QB 

March 2()()() 

Note: 

MB Reid 

Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries 

The valuation of the ,1mou11t of the liabilities of the Scheme does not reflect the cost or sernrin� those liabilities by 

the purd1.1se of annuities, if the Scheme were to have been wound up on the effective dace of the valuation. 
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ACTUARIAL STATEMENT made for the purpn,t', nfReguLition JO of the Occupational Prnsion 

Schemes (Minimum Funding Rt'quirement and Actuarial Valuations) Reguh1tions ] ')9(1. 

Name of scheme: Universities Superannuation Scheme 

Effective date of valuation: 31 March 1999 

l. Security of prospective rights

In my opinion, the resources of the Scheme are likely in the normal course of events to meet 

in full the liabilities of the Scheme as they fall due. In giving this opinion, I have assumed that 

the following amounts will be paid to the Scheme: 

Description of contributions: 

By the employer: 

By the members: 

1-+'X, of salary 

6.35% of salary 

Subject to review at future actuarial valuations. 

2. Summary of methods and ,1ssumptions used

Further details of the methods and assumptions used are set out m my actuarial valuation 

addressed to the Trustee Company dated 23 March 2()(HJ. 

William M Mercer Limited 

Liverpool L2 3QB 

March 200() 
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY - FUND ACCOUNTS for years ended 31 M,1rch 

Contributions and benefits 

Contributions 

PRS receipts 

Transfers in 

Benefits payable 

Pensions 

Lump sums 

Transfers out 

n .. efunds 

Investment income 
(net oi investment management costs) 

Administration costs of the trustee 
(excluding im·e,cment management costs) 

Changes in value of investments 

Investments of the fund 
(at current values) at 31 March 

Securities 

Property 

Life assurance policies 

Cash deposits 

Stockbroker balances 

Membership numbers at 31 March 

Contributing members 

Pensioners 

Deferred pensioners 

2002 

£m 

611 

38 

106 

755 

+88

122

54 

2 

666 

+63

5.8 

(629) 

17,--1-56 

1,667 

183 

486 

(22) 

19,770 

2002 

95,71)1) 

35,100 

49 ,500 

180,300 

64 

2001 2000 

£m £m 

565 523 

35 37 

92 92 

692 652 

++6 417 

91 88 

27 20 

565 526 

507 48() 

6.3 6.5 

(2,562) 2,559 

17,--1-52 19,664 

1,592 1,516 

212 250 

6--1-4 454 

(23) (41)

19,877 21,843 

2001 2000 

91,300 85, 1()() 

33, 100 31,400 

+5,400 42,000 

169,800 158,500 

1999 1998 

£m £m 

+81 +57

+1 56

68 90

590 603 

38+ 348 

91 103 

22 18 

+98 470 

497 +9+

6.4 5.9 

882 3,062 

16,730 15,307 

1, 175 910 

264 282 

492 662 

26 80 

18,687 17,241 

1999 1998 

81,600 78, 700 

29,90() 28,200 

37,600 33,700 

149, 100 140,600 
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS for the war ended 31 M,irch 21Hl2 

The directors submit their report and the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2002. 

Principal acti\·ity 

The company, which is limited by guarantee and does not have a share capital, was established 

to undertake and discharge the office of trustee of any superannuation scheme but in particular 

to act as the trustee of the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS). 

Operating costs :md re,·ie\\" of acti\·ities 

The operating costs for the year amounted to £21,369,()()() this amount being recoverable from 

USS. This compares with £21, 9+ 1,(JOO for the year ended 31 March 2001. 

Included in these totals for both years were recoverie, of costs incurred in prior years. Excluding 

these recoveries the total operating costs were £22, 905,0()() for the year ended 31 March 2002 

and £22.Jl.+,OOO for the year ended 31 March 2001. 

Ignoring prior year recoveries, this represents a 2.3'.Y., increase in investment management costs 

and a 3.5'X, increase in other administration costs. 

Investment management costs remain higher than has historically been the case as a result of a 

third successive year of excellent performance from one of the external managers, Capital 

International, whose fee is performance related. 

It was reported last year that incoming work and work 111 hand in the Liverpool office had 

increased to unexpectedly high levels and that action was being taken to ensure the return to a 

satisfactory level of service. Much of the effort of the Liverpool office during the year has 

focused on this objective and the levels of work in progress at the end of the year indicated that 

it had been achieved. While the efficiencies introduced by the Universal Pensions Management 

system implemented in 20()() played a m�tjor part in enabling staff to eliminate the backlog, it 

was also recognised that an increase in staffing numbers was necessary to deal with the ever 

increasing workload and this is the main reason for the increase in costs compared to the 

previous year. 

During the year two long standing issues were finally resolved. For over 10 years USS Ltd has 

been seeking recompense from its former general manager investments, Mr Spink, and from its 

fidelity guarantee insurers, the Roya] & Sun Alliance, in connection with USS Ltd's investment 

in Jdfrey S Levitt Ltd, an unquoted investment of the fund which went into receivership in May 

1991. The matter came to court in January 2002 and after four days in court an out of court 

settlement was agreed. The exact terms of the settlement are subject to a confidentiality 

provision and cannot be disclosed but the overall settlement to USS Ltd from both its insurers 

and from Mr Spink is considered acceptable by the directors. Part of the amount received is in 

respect of the recovery of the legal costs of this particular action in this and in previous years and 

is included in these financial statements while the balance is included in the financial statements 

of the fimd. 

USS Ltd's lease at its former premises in Liverpool, Richmond House, ran until 31 January 

200+. Release from the lease has been negotiated with the landlord and the premises were 

vacated on 25 March 2002. USS Ltd has no liability for further costs in relation to Richmond 

House from that date. A significant portion of the service charges for the premises since 1996 

has been disputed and has not been paid although the full amount has been included in premises 

costs in the accounts each year. Negotiations with the landlord on this issue are continuing but 
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the directors are confident that the amount p,1yable will be significantly less than has been 

charged to the accounts. This has been recognised by a write back of costs of £1,089,000 

charged to the accounts in previous years. 

Fixed assets 

The details of movements in fixed assets are set out in Note 16 to the accounts. 

Directors 

The directors of the company during the year were as follows: 

Professor Sir Graeme Davies (chairman) 
C D Donald (deputy ch.1irman) 

AS Bell 

L Collinson 

Professor Sir Martin Harris 

Lord Mark Fitzalan Howard 

Sir Howard Newby (fro111 1.10.2001)

Michael S Potts 
Angela Crum Ewing 
Professor Sir Bri.m Fender (to 30.9.2001)

Dr J M Goldstrom (to 31.8.2001)

Professor Charles Sutcliffe (from 1. 9.2001)

J W D Trythall 

Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe (fro111 20. 6.200 I)

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the operating costs of the 

company for that period. In prep.iring those financial statements, the directors are required to 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable ,K ·ounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the fin:111cial statements on the going concern b.,sis unless it 1s inappropriate to
presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Auditors 

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and 
a resolution concerning their reappointment will be proposed at the annual general meeting. 

By order of the board 

J P Willi.1111s 

Secretary 

24 July 2002 
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STATEMENT OF OPERATING COSTS for the ye.1r ended 31 March 2002 

Personnel costs 

Employees' emoluments 
Directors' emoluments and expenses 
R.ecruitment, training and welfan:

Premises costs 

Rent, rates, service charges and utilities 
Depreciation and maintenance 

Investment costs 

Securities management 
Securitie; 111.magl·ment rebates 
Custodial services 
Property management 
Legal cmts - property management 

- securities management
- special investigation
- recovery of special investigation costs

Property valuation 
Investment performance measurement 
Costs met by third parties 

Other costs 

Computer and infixnution services cost, 
Professional fees 
Office equipment 

Travel and c,tr costs 
Telephones and postage 
Institution liaison and member communication 
Printing and stationery 
FSA/IMRO membership 
Pensions Act Levy 
Insurances 
A uditors' remuneration 
Sundry (Income)/Expenditure 
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 
Costs met by third parties 

Total operating costs before prior year items 

Recovery of costs incurred in prior years 

VAT 
Legal costs - special investigation 
Service charges - Liverpool premises 
VAT on service charges - Liverpool premi,e, 

Total operating costs recoverable from USS 
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Note 

4 
5 

13 

7 

8 

9 

7 

13 
14 
14 

15 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

6,085 5.490 
337 336 
355 213 

6,777 6,039 

1,277 1.385 
89 197 

1,3(16 1,582 

10,659 10,254 
(1,486) (2,066) 

913 1,336 
1,441 1,835 

31)7 327 

9 33 
779 50 

(779) 
151 198 

77 69 
(62) (64)

12,009 11,972 

1,937 1,515 
764 785 
325 356 
358 348 
194 170 
151 134 
146 121 
48 104 
58 53 
47 40 
36 38 
(3) 
(6) (4)

(l,3112) (939)

2,753 2,721 

22,905 22,314 

(373) 
(447) 
(963) 
(126) 

(1,536) (373) 

21,369 21,941 
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BALANCE SHEET ,is at 31 M,lrch 21102 

2002 2001 

Note £000 £000 

Assets 

Fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets 16 736 832 

Current assets 

Debtors 17 6,695 7,160 

Cash at bank and in hand 3 1 

6,698 7,161 

Total assets 7,434 7,993 

Liabilities 

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 18 7,434 7,993 

Total liabilities 7,--1-3--1- 7,993 

The financial statements on pages 6 7 to 7 6 were approved by the board of directors on 24 July 20( J2 

and were signed on its behalf by: 

G J Davies 

Chairman 

CD Donald 

Deputy Chairman 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT fi.ir the ye,lr ended 3 I M,1rch 21H12 

2002 2001 

Note 

Operating activities 
£000 £000 

Cash received from USS 21,939 23,730 
Operating costs paid 19 (21,638) (23,326) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 301 404 

Capital expenditure and financial investment 

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (315) (443)
Sale of tangible fixed assets 16 39

(299) (404)

Increase in cash 2 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS for the year ended 31 M,1rch 20112 

1. The company, which is limited by guarantee and does not have a share capital, has no beneficial

interest in the investments and other assets held in its name but not included in its balance sheet,

since it holds these as the trustee of USS.

2. Format of accounts

A Profit and Loss Account is not presented \vith these accounts as such a statement is 

inappropriate to the operations of the company. The costs incurred and the method by which 

they are recovered are therefore set out in the Statement of Operating Costs. 

A separate statement of total recognised gains and losses has not been presented as all gains and 

losses are included in the Statement of Operating Costs. 

A separate note of historical cost profits and losses is not required as the accounts are prepared 

under the historical cost convention. 

3. Accounting policies

Accounting convention 

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention and on the accruals basis and 

comply with applicable Accounting Standards in the United Kingdom which have been 

consistently applied. 

Depreciation of fixed assets 

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of fixed as,ets on a straight line basis over 

the expected economic lives of the assets concerned. The principal annual rates used for this 

purpose are: 
O' 
/1) 

Office equipment 15 

Iterations to rented premises 20 

Computer equipment 20 and 33 'h 

Motor cars 25 

Computer soft:\\·are 33 1h

Operating leases 

Rental costs under operating le,1,es are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term in the 

Statement of Operating Costs. 

Pensions 

USS Ltd participates 111 the Universities Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit scheme 

which is externally fonded and contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme. 

The fimd is valued every three years by a professionally qualified independent actuary using the 

projected unit method, the rates of contribution payable being determined by the trustee 

company on the advice of the actuary. In the imervening years the actuary revie\\·s the progress 

of the scheme. Pension costs are asse sed in accordance with the advice of the actuary, based on 

the latest actuarial valuation of the scheme. and are accounted for on the basis of charging the 

cost of providing pensiom over the period during which the company benefits from the 

employees' services. 
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-+. Employees· emoluments 

The average weekly number of persons employed by the 

company during the year (excluding directors) \Vas 

Staff costs for the above persons were: 

Wages and salaries 

Pension costs (superannuation contributions) 

Social security costs (national insurance contributions) 

Restructuring costs 

Less recovery (see note 11) 

Emoluments of the chief executive 

2002 2001 

138 127 

£000 £000 

5,063 4,554 

501 467 

-+47 431 

78 38 

6,089 5,490 

(-+) 

6,085 5,490 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

178 171 

The emoluments of the chief executive are shown on the same basis as for higher paid staff. USS 

Ltd's pension contributions for him to USS amounted to nil (200 l: nil). 

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer's pension contributions but including 

benefits in kind: 

2002 2001 

£50,001 £60,1)()(1 3 

£611,001 £70,()(10 -+ 2 
£7(),()()j £80,()()(1 2 

£80,()()1 £90,()()() -+ 3 
£90,(Hll £1IH1, I IIHl 2 

£WO,IHJ1 £ 1111,( )()0 1 

£1111,001 £120,()()(1 2 3 
£120,001 £1311,()()() 3 

£130,IJ()l £ 140, 00(1 1 2 
£1-+0,001 £ 150, OOO 2 
£150,001 £ 160, OOO 

£170,0Ul £ 180, OOO 1 
£260,001 £270,000 

£280,001 £290,()()() 

£-+10,001 £420,000 1 

£-+30.001 £ -+-+O, OOO 
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:'i. Directors' emoluments and expenses 

Fees 

Employer's costs - national insurance contributions 

-VAT

Expenses 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

283 275 

27 27 

4 4 

23 30 

337 336 

Directors are remunerated on a basis which is approved by the Joint Negotiating Committee and 

is in accordance with the contribution which they make to the work of USS Ltd and their legal 

responsibilities. 

No pension contributions are made on behalf of directors. As at 31 March 2002 seven of the 

directors are members of USS either as pensioners or through their employment with the 

institutions. 

Directors· fees charged to the accounts in the years ended 31 March 2002 and 20!l1 reflect 

payments made in each year which related to the previous year and small differences between 

the amounts accrued in the accounts at each year end and the amount paid. Actual emoluments 

paid to each director in respect of each of the last two years were as follows: 

Professor Sir Graeme Davies (chairman) 

C 1) Donald (deputy chairman) 

Lord Mark Fitzalan Howard 

J W D TrythJll 

Mrs A Crum Ewing 

L Collinson 

M S  Potts 

A S  Bell 

Professor Sir Martin Harris 

Professor Charles Sutcliffe 

Baroness Warwick of Undercliffe 

Dr J M Goldstrom 

Professor Sir Brian Fender 

Sir Howard Newby 

Professor Sir C,irt'th Roberts 

(i. Securities m,111.1gemem rebates 

2002 

£000 

40 

42 

33 
'Y 
_::, 

24 

21 

21 

17 

16 

12 

11 

7 

5 

5 

279 

2001 

£000 

39 

39 

33 

24 

23 

21 

18 

17 

16 

16 

10 

12 

268 

Management fees and other charges incurred by securities managers on investment in their own 

in-house funds are rebated from the fi:cs chargeable to USS Ltd. These costs are included within 

the book cost of the investments held by USS. 

7. Costs met by third p.irties

Costs met by third parties represent the amount of the comm1ss10n paid by USS to certain 

srockbrokers which is directed by the stockbrokers to the purchase of equipment and services 

for USS Ltd for investment management purposes. 
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8. Computer and inform,1tion services costs

Investment information services 

Computer running costs 

Investment accounting services 

Hardware depreciation 

Software depreciation 

Computer bureau fees 

lJ Professional fees 

Legal 

Actuarial 

Committee members (other than directors) 

Taxation 

Public relations 

Member medicals 

Salary surveys 

Information technology consultancy 

Other 

I ( l. Auditors' remuneration 

USS 

SS Ltd 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

1, 175 732 

334 430 

242 220 

99 78 

65 34 

22 21 

L937 1,515 

2002 2001 
£000 £000 

302 307 

289 279 

88 87 

21 36 

21 26 

22 13 

9 8 

5 

12 24 

764 785 

2002 2001 
£000 £000 

33 34 

3 4 

36 38 

Remuneration of the company's auditors for provision of services other than for the audit of 

USS and USS Ltd was £20,939 for taxation advice (2001: £79,281). 

11. Correction of prior year pension increase

Actuarial costs 

Consultancy costs 

Employees' emoluments 

Other costs 

2002 

£000 

18 

111 

4 

67 

200 

2001 
£000 

The above costs were incurred in processing a correction to the increase paid to a number of 

USS pensioners in 1997. These costs have been recovered from our solicitors and are not included 

in the statement of operating costs. 
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12. Value Added Tix

USS Ltd is registered for Value Added Tax activities and recovers a proportion of the input tax

on administrative expenditure directly attributable to the scheme's investment activities. 

13. Recovery of legal costs

The amount recovered relates to legal costs incurred since 1993 in pursuing our insurers and the

former general manager - investments for losses suffered in 1991 in connection with an investment 

in an unquoted company. 

14. Service ch.1rges - Liverpool premises

This represents a write back of costs charged to the accounts in previous years in respect of

extraordinary service charges for USS Ltd's former premises in Liverpool. These charges were 

not paid and the landlord has confirmed that the charges are no longer payable. 

15. Tot.ii operating costs - recover;1ble from USS

Investment management costs 

Other administration costs 

2002 

£000 

15,549 

5,820 

21,369 

2001 

£000 

15,636 

6,305 

21,941 

Investment management costs are those costs which are directly attributable to investment 

activities and include relevant personnel, premises and other costs. 

Included in operating costs is a charge for depreciation of£ 401.000 (2001: £ 471,000). 

1 Ii. Tangible fixed .1ssets 

Cost 

At 1 April 2001 

Additions 

Disposals 

At 31 M.irch 2002 

Accumulated Depreciation 

At I April 2001 

Charge for year 

Disposals 

At 31 March 2002 

Net Book Value 

31 March 2002 

Net Book Value 

31 March 2001 

Alterations 

to Rented Computer 

Premises Equipment 

£000 £000 

1,649 1,348 

6 117 

1,655 1,465 

l ,63H 1.2()5 

7 99 

1,(>45 1,304 

j() 161 

11 143 
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Computer Office Motor 

Software Equipment Cars 

£000 £000 £000 

1,601 1,135 357 

112 24 56 

(28) 

1,713 1,159 385 

1,319 927 169 

65 145 85 

(18) 

1,384 1,072 236 

329 87 149 

282 208 188 

Total 

£000 

6,090 

315 

(28) 

6,377 

5,258 

401 

(18) 

5,641 

736 

832 
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17. Debtors - amounts f;.11ling due within one year

Due from USS 

Prepayments 

Other debtors 

18. Creditors - amounts f:1lling due within one ye,lr

Accrued expenditure 

Other creditors 

Taxation and social security 

19. Reconciliation of operating costs paid

Operating costs - recoverable from SS 

Decrease in creditors (excluding USS) 

Profit on sale of tangible fixed assets 

Depreciation 

Increase/(decrease) in debtors (excluding USS) 

Operating costs paid 

2( I. Operating lease commitments 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

6,278 6,848 

373 296 

44 16 

6,695 7, 160 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

4, 158 4,358 

3, 132 3,505 

144 130 

7,434 7,993 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

21,369 21,941 

559 2, 148 

6 4 

( 401) (471)

105 (296)

21,638 23,326 

USS Ltd is committed to making foture annual payments under operating leases which expire 

as follows: 

2002 2001 

£000 £000 

Less than one year 1 

Between two and five years 317 465 

Over five years 398 396 

The payments relate to ongoing rent, rate and equipment leasing commitments in respect of 

USS Ltd's offices in Liverpool and London. 

21 . Pension costs 

The company participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit scheme 

\vhich is externally fonded and contracted out of the State Earnings-Related Pemion Scheme. 

The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fond. It is not possible to 

identify each institution's share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme and hence 

contributions to the scheme are accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme. the 

cost recognised within the statement of operating costs for the year being equal to the 

contributions payable to the scheme for the year. 

The latest actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 1999. The assumptions which have 

the most significant effect on the result of the v.1luation are those relating to the rate of return on 
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investments (i.e. the valuation rate of interest) and the rates of increase in salary and pensions. 

In relation to the past service liabilities the financial assumptions were derived from market yields 

prevailing at the valuation date. It was assumed that the valuation rate of interest would be 4.5% 

per annum, salary increases would be 3.6'Yi', per annum and pensions would increase by 2.6% per 

annum. In relation to the future service liabilities it was assumed that the valuation rate of interest 

would be 5.5'li, per annum, including an additional investment return assumption of 1 % per 

annum, salary increases would be 3.5% per annum and pensions would increase by 2.5% per 

annum. The valuation was carried out using the projected unit method. 

At the valuation date, the market value of the assets of the scheme was £18,870 million 

(including an estimated £55 million in respect of outstanding bulk transfer payments due) and 

the value of the past service liabilities was £17 ,427 million leaving a surplus of assets of £1,443 

million. The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 108% of the benefits which had accrued 

to members after allowing for expected future increases in earnings. 

The institution contribution rate required for future service benefits alone at the date of the 

valuation was 16.3% of salaries but it was agreed that the institution contribution rate will be 

maintained at 14'/'i, of salaries. To fund this reduction of 2.3'Yo for the period of 11 years from 

the date of the valuation (the average outstanding working lifetime of the current members of the 

scheme) required the use of£561 million of the surplus. It was also agreed, following the valuation, 

that £201 million of the surplus would be used to fund certain benefit improvements. This left 

a past service surplus of £681 m (including the Supplementary Section) to be carried forward. 

Surpluses or deficits \vhich arise at future valuations may impact on the company's future 

contribution commitment. The next formal actuarial valuation is due as at 31 March 2002 when 

the above rates will be reviewed. 

The total pension cost for the company was £501,000 (2001: £ 467,000). The contribution rate 

payable by the company was 14';{, of pensionable salaries. 

22. ReLlted party transactions

There are no related party transactions other than transactions between the trustee company and

the scheme. The trustee company provides administration and investment management services 

to the scheme charging £5.8 million and £15.5 million respectively, with a balance due from 

the scheme of £6.3 million at 31 March 2002. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

to the members of Uniwrsities Superannuation Scheme Limited 

We have audited the financial statements which comprise the statement of operating costs, the 

balance sheet, the cash flow statement, the related notes and the accounting policies set out in 

the statement of accounting policies. 

Respective responsibilities of trustee and auditors 

The directors' responsibilities for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards are set out in the 

statement of directors' responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements 111 accordance with relevant legal and 

regulatory requirements and United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing 

Practices Board. 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and foir view 

and are properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you 

if� in our opinion, the directors' report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the 

company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information 

and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors' 

remuneration and transactions is not disclosed. 

We read the other information contained in the annual report and consider the implications for 

our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with 

the financial statements. The other information comprises only the directors' report. 

Basis of audit opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices 

Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates 

and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of 

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances, consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which 

we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 

adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. 

<. )pinion 

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the company's 

affairs at 31 March 2002 and of its result and cash flows for the year then ended and have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 

Liverpool 

29 July 2002 
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